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As the integrated one-stop LED
energy management services
provider, we are committed to providing
reliable, efficient and energy-saving LED
backlights, LED lighting products as
well as comprehensive lighting energy
management solutions for sizeable
business corporations and public utilities
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CORPORATE PROFILE
NG M)y

Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited (“Wai Chi Holdings” or
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries collectively referred to as
the “Group”) was established in Hong Kong over 30 years ago. The
Group is one of China’s manufacturers for high-quality Light-Emitting
Diode (“LED”) backlight and LED lighting products, with its operations
covering research and development (“R&D”), design, manufacturing,
sales, etc. Recently, the Group is actively developing its business in
lighting energy management solutions and is becoming an integrated
one-stop LED energy management services provider specializing in
offering comprehensive lighting energy management solutions for
sizeable business corporations and public utilities.

Since its listing on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 18 November 2014 (stock
code: 1305), the Group has been dedicated to upgrading its brand
value and becoming one of the leaders in China’s high-end LED
backlights and lighting products producers.

Throughout the years, the Group has been monitoring the industry
trends closely and innovating technologies actively, achieving
significant R&D results. The Group has successfully developed over
1,000 of new LED backlight products and over 100 of new LED
lighting products in Hong Kong, China, Taiwan and Japan, among
which 151 patents were registered in the PRC.

The Group has comprehensive production facilities in Shenzhen
and Huizhou in the Guangdong province and Yichang in the Hubei
province. The Group’s products can be categorized into 2 main
groups under LED backlight products and LED lighting business. LED
backlight products are classified into 3 types, including: 1) automobile
on-board displays; 2) television displays; and 3) other industrial
equipment displays. LED lighting business is divided into 2 types,
including commercial lighting and public lighting.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LTFEH

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Chen Chung Po
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

6th Floor, Liven House
63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

AUDITORS

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
43/F, Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

Guantao & Chow (as to Hong Kong law)

STOCK CODE
01305

COMPANY’S WEBSITE
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

O-Bank Co., Ltd.

Suites 3210-3214

32nd Floor, Gateway Tower 6
Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Citibank (Hong Kong) Limited
11th Floor, Citi Tower

83 Hoi Bun Road

Kwun Tong

Kowloon, Hong Kong

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Bank of China Tower

1 Garden Road

Central

Hong Kong

Cayman Islands principal share registrar and

transfer office

Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Level 54

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREE

e uphold pragmatic and prudent

business management, emphasize the
flexible use of resources, and always be at
our optimal condition to respond to market
changes and explore opportunities
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited, its subsidiaries and
the board of directors of the Company (“Director” or the “Board”), |
am pleased to present to our shareholders our audited annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

INDUSTRY REVIEW

At the beginning of the year 2019, global economic risks were in
the course of elevation as trade barriers and geopolitical tensions
heightened, especially those related to the topic of Brexit. Investors’
confidence continued to be undermined such that investment and
supply chain were at risk of disruption in affected areas. With the
visibly synchronised trend in global economies, downward impact
even spread to the emerging market economies and the euro area
and 2019 drew to a close with real GDP growth at 3.0%.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®E

As for China, 6.1% of real GDP growth was achieved. While it is a
lasting deceleration, it was within the targeted range between 6.0%
and 6.5% set out by the Chinese government. Industrial production
slowdown and weakened trade growth manifested differently in the
various industries in the country. Enterprises with economies of scale
and flexibility in research and development (‘R&D”) would be more
resilient to uncertainties during the period.

The LED backlight production market in China faced the challenge
of easing demands in both export and domestic market, where
momentum of growth turns to the rapidly changing taste of end
consumers. In the past few years, weakening consumer confidence
caused by the global economic fluctuations altered the automobile
market.

Mainstream production of automobile on-board displays has
been oriented towards displays of 5 inches or above as sales of
automobiles gear towards high-end, high-tech and new-energy car
models. Similarly, television displays which are closely related to the
consumer market are experiencing the upgrade in both screen size
and quality brought by Mini LED and OLED components.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

Despite the unpredictable industry environment, the Company
stayed firm and focused on LED backlight product categories
including automobile, television and industrial equipment while
continuously exploring diversified income streams and retaining LED
lighting business with some longstanding clients in China as well
as Europe. The Group recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$2,214,974,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019,
representing a slight decrease of 1.55% as compared to the year
ended 31 December 2018. Segment revenue of backlights for
automobile on-board displays and commercial lighting attained
30.7% and 40.5% increase respectively, compensating for decreased
revenue in other segments.

In the trading segment, we opened up the business of memory
chips trading. As consumer application of 5G and Internet of things
(loT) technologies are imminent, memory chips are an example of
semiconductor components in devices or systems which we will see
prevailing to revamp conventional everyday objects. For example,
smart home appliances will have an internal memory chip to record
activity history, user preferences, etc., which means there will be a
rising demand for individually customised memory components. The
main entry barrier for memory chips traders and manufacturers is the
access to a reliable source of its raw material, as over 90% of the
global supplies originate from a handful of suppliers. Wai Chi currently
maintains a stable relationship with a leading supplier in the field.

With respect to the current status of our factories’ operation under
the coronavirus outbreak, in addition to our main products, we
produced some display products which could be used in hospitals
treating patients infected by the coronavirus outbreak. After the
Group having been granted a level-2 prioritized manufacturers (level-1
being ones that are directly related to medical supplies), around 70%
of the operation in our Guangdong facilities has resumed in February
2020 and the rest has resumed at the date of this report. Employees
coming from outside of Guangdong Province are asked to undergo
self-quarantine for 14 days before returning to the workplace where
we also implement strict protocols regarding mask-wearing, body
temperature monitoring and disinfection in prevention of the potential
infection.
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PROSPECTS

In my view, a global economic recovery will occur once the
coronavirus outbreak subsides, although it will likely go at a slow
pace because of a halt in most production activities in Southern
China caused by measures against the spread of the virus. The world
economy growth was estimated to recoup to 3.4% in 2020 by the
International Monetary Fund in Oct 2019, which can possibly be
delayed by the coronavirus outbreak. The global chain effect triggered
by such disruption will take some time to reverse.

Looking at automobile on-board displays, the growing market
demand for larger-sized backlight products will be on track as it is
reported that upcoming high-end car models and new-energy models
will be equipped with displays as large as 32 inches. Meanwhile,
demand for free-form and curved displays will remain stable, which
provides good opportunities for manufacturers with high R&D
capabilities.

Lastly, we foresee that the future niche market for small-storage
memory chips can be lucrative for sellers who can fulfill demands,
especially from clients without resources to produce the chips for
their own end-products. Favourably, the semiconductor device
industry in Guangdong Province is highlighted in the 14th Five-Year
Plan of China as a key industry. Hence, supportive policies and
subsidies are anticipated to be available for relevant enterprises. the
Company is strategically assessing M&A plans of production lines
from reputable manufacturers to add to our product mix and cater for
future demand.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude to
our investors, business associates and employees who have been the
driving force and pillar of strength to the Company. We are confident
and will continue to be an agile and vigilant business to embrace
challenges.

Mr. YIU Chi To
Executive Director and Chairman

26 March 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEZWLER S

INDUSTRY REVIEW

Global economy was faced with bumps as it entered 2019 in the
midst of China-U.S. trade conflicts. Tariffs had taken a toll on
manufacturing sectors in the world’s two largest economies as
Chinese export prices were forced to soar, eventually weighing down
the overall world GDP to 3.0% — the lowest since 2010.

China’s LED industry was certainly under pressure as pessimistic
consumer sentiments were directly reflected in the sales of many
technological products. For instance, the automobile sector
as a globally interconnected industry illustrated the downtrend
effects of the new carbon emission tests and end of tax breaks
for manufacturers in 2018. The atmosphere persisted in 2019 in
combination with the series of tariffs impacting car-related sectors.
Small-scale manufacturers of steel and plastic car parts, electronics
etc. suffered severely.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year 2019, the Group’s operation has remained steady in
general where it continued to keep up with market trends, adapt to
technological advances in consumer goods and maintained quality
output of specialty products. In terms of its sourcing business, it
ventured out to include a specific type of semiconductor, small-
storage memory chips, as it is believed that its potential demand will
align with the upcoming prevalence of loT equipment and devices.
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The total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
approximately HK$2,214,974,000, representings mild decrease of
1.6% as compared to approximately HK$2,249,786,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2018. Revenue from the sales of LED backlight
products was approximately HK$950,106,000 (2018: approximately
HK$847,556,000), representing an increase of 12.1%. Such increase
is mainly contributed by the automotive backlight segment with a
30.7% increase in sales. Revenue from the sales of LED lighting
products was approximately HK$94,777,000 (2018: approximately
HK$81,995,000), representing an increase of 15.6%, which is
mainly contributed by the commercial lighting segment with a 40.5%
increase in sales.

The Group continued with its enterprise resource planning (“ERP”)
system to implement stringent cost control by timely monitoring
its operation process to promote information exchange between
functions, storing and managing operational data. The ERP system
has been especially effective in moderating operational cost for
the Group during the manufacturing process, as well as enhancing
financial and work efficiency with a higher level of process automation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THRZWLE S Hh

LED Backlight Business

The three types of the Group’s LED backlight products are: 1)
automobile on-board displays; 2) television displays; and 3) other
industrial equipment displays. For the year ended 31 December
2019, revenue derived from LED backlight products in automobile
on-board displays, television displays and industrial equipment
displays were approximately HK$639,290,000, HK$106,778,000 and
HK$204,038,000 respectively.

LED B £

REBHN=F\LEDE RLER A VEHET
22 ) BRFE R RO Hih TR EFE RS -
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M REBEHBERS SHRENSENRIER

106,778,0007% 7T £ 204,038,000 7 7T, ©

For the year ended 31 December
BZE12ASIALEE

2018
20184
LED Backlight LED & 3} HK$’000 %
Revenue Breakdown U A BR 4R FAET %
Automobile Displays HHBE RS 639,290 67.3 489,285 57.7
Televisions BAR 106,778 11.2 129,154 15.2
Equipment Displays BN 204,038 21.5 229,117 27.1
950,106 100.0 847,556 100.0

Automobile on-board displays represented 67.3% of the Group’s LED
backlight business and 28.9% of its total revenue during the year
ended 31 December 2019. It experienced a 30.7% lift from the year
ended 31 December 2018.

2019 was a time of transition for the automobile industry as much as
a year when consumers increasingly shift to opt for vehicles with the
next-level technology and emission standard compliance. According
to the industry research firm Sigmaintell Consulting Co., Ltd., the
output volume of automobile on-board displays in the first half of
2019 dropped by 3.4% to approximately 79 million pieces. However,
as one of the leading backlight producers of automobile on-board
displays, the Group stayed atop of the trend of enlarged sizes and
varied forms of information panels.

Revenues from backlight products for television displays and
equipment displays saw decreases of approximately 17.3% and
11.0% as the Group focused on the production of backlight products
for automobile displays.
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LED Lighting Service Business

The Group’s LED lighting business is classified into 2 categories,
namely public lighting and commercial lighting. The Group provides
various services including products, lighting solutions design,
installation and maintenance etc. During the year ended 31 December
2019, revenues from public lighting and commercial lighting were
approximately HK$15,770,000 and HK$79,007,000 respectively,
observing a decrease in the former of approximately 38.8% and an
increase in the latter of approximately 40.5%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THRZWLER S Hh
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEBZWMLR 2R
For the year ended 31 December
HZE12A31HLEE
2019 2018

20194 2018 4F
LED Lighting LED ¥ B HK$’000 HK$’000 %
Revenue Breakdown W A BA 48 T T %
Public Lighting N AR BA 15,770 16.6% 25,755 314
Commercial Lighting 7% F FE AR 79,007 83.4% 56,240 68.6
94,777 100.0 81,995 100.0

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group continued its
focus on overseas lighting projects with Europe being its largest
market. The ongoing public LED street lighting projects in Mexico
continued to generate revenue for the Group. It also went on serving
some loyal domestic clients in China. Possessing a strong foothold
in the overseas market, the Group is confident in attracting more
potential clients in the future.

High-tech Electronic Components and Products
Sourcing Business

The Group is engaged in the sourcing of high-tech electronic
components and products. During the year ended 31 December
2019, revenue from the provision of sourcing services was
approximately HK$1,170,091,000 (2018: HK$1,320,235,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 11.4%, which was mainly
due to the Group intentionally allocating resources to the core
business to cope with the Group’s development. The Group added
small-storage memory chips to this segment to meet demand for loT
equipment and devices.
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QUALITY CONTROL

At the Company, the high level of quality control has proven to garner
customer loyalty. From the very beginning stage of product design,
the Group’s quality control procedures continue throughout the
entire product manufacturing and storage process. Quality control
staff are to contribute to the product design process so as to ensure
the products are in excellent quality from the very beginning. There
is a set of established procedures in selecting and approving new
suppliers and raw materials, and thorough testing of product samples
are carried out before mass production of the LED products.

The Group owns a series of advanced production and testing
equipment for improving quality control. The Group has been
awarded various certifications, including ISO 9001:2008 and I1SO
14001:2004 for quality and environmental management systems,
which serve as important assurance of the product quality and
reliability.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group recognises the immense value of R&D capabilities and
has become an agile industry player for its R&D efforts. As today’s
consumers demand not only quality but diversity in many tech-related
products, niche markets for components of non-mainstream products
can offer profitable opportunities for manufacturers with well-informed
and resourceful R&D departments. By flexibly targeting market trends
and technological advances, the Group strives to always be ready to
identify and capture optimal business deals.

The Group’s R&D centre is located at our production plant in
Huizhou. The Group engages in various R&D activities, including (i)
concurrent development of new product designs with our customers;
(i) improvement of product quality, efficiency and functions of existing
products; (iii) in-project calibration and optimization of the production
processes and capability of the equipment; (iv) introduction and
promotion of the use of new technologies and materials in the
production process; and (v) assessment of the future prospect and
development trend of the LED industry. The Group has achieved a
number of technological advancement and breakthroughs over the
years and, as of 31 December 2019, the Group held 151 patents
registered in the PRC. Looking forward, the Group will continue to
enhance its R&D capabilities and prepare itself for the up-and-coming
opportunities.
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AWARDS FOR CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

During the year ended 31 December 2019, Wai Chi Opto Technology
Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, has received the Green Office
Label awarded under the Green Office Awards Labelling Scheme
(“GOALS”) organised by the World Green Organization (“WGO”)
for the fourth year, in recognition of the Group’s continued efforts in
aiding environmental protection.

WGO launched GOALS in 2013 with the objectives of raising
awareness of global environmental issues and encouraging
corporations to implement the best green practices in their offices
in 9 stipulated aspects of operations, including energy savings,
water savings, waste reduction, paper and printing reduction,
green procurement, IT use and disposal, transportation, education
and awareness, and finally green innovation. Companies have to
undergo a process of stringent green audit, during which the Group
has demonstrated its commitment in corporate social responsibility
by incorporating its green mission into daily practice and corporate
culture.

PROSPECTS

At the beginning of 2020, China-U.S. trade relations seem to have
taken a more positive turn as deals to alleviate losses were proposed
by both countries in January. Nonetheless, the world’s attention
quickly moved to the coronavirus outbreak in China, rekindle any
negative sentiments which could have been eased at the end of
2019. The Group believes that 2020 will be once again a challenging
year for many industries around the world and may only show signs
of rebound in the last months.

The Chinese vehicle market, the largest in the world, had a drop of
4.0% in vehicle output in 2018 as it reacted to new carbon emission
standards and expiration of industry tax cuts. After some industry
adjustment in 2019, it is anticipated that the number of displays
used in car interiors continued to grow as digitalisation of formerly
physical interfaces gain popularity. The Group will leverage on its
manufacturing technologies, human capital and R&D capabilities to
produce backlight for automobile on-board displays to gain market
share.
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Regarding the television LED backlight sector, manufacturing costs
of Mini LED displays have lowered as the technology matures. Such
trend will prevail in 2020 alongside the falling retail prices of OLED
televisions, leaving the two as strong competitors against traditional
LED TVs. The Group will be closely monitoring market information
and reappraise its strategies as needed.

The Group has noticed the widening demand for small-storage
memory chips in loT products. With access to a reliable supplier of
raw material, the Company has been carefully evaluating M&A plans
of existing production lines with a view to becoming a supplier of a
niche and less competitive market. This is also expected to diversify
the Group’s income streams and possibly compensate for weaker
performance in other sectors.

The Company will stay alert and resilient during times of global
uncertainties. On the other hand, it is also determined to grasp
favourable opportunities by adaptively utilising available resources
and technologies.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the sources of revenue for
the Group were the sales of LED backlight, the sales of LED lighting
products and the business of high-tech electronic components
and products sourcing. The sales of the Group’s LED backlight
products were approximately HK$950,106,000, representing an
increase of approximately 12.1% from 2018, which was mainly
attributable to the significant increase of sales of automotive displays
LED backlight products. The sales of the Group’s LED lighting
products were approximately HK$94,777,000, representing an
increase of approximately 15.6% from 2018. The increase was
mainly attributable to the continual increase of sales in the European
market. The revenue from the segment of high-tech electronic
components and products sourcing recorded sales of approximately
HK$1,170,091,000 (2018: HK$1,320,235,000).
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ERBZRLEE DR
For the year ended 31 December
HZ12A31ALEE
2018
20184
HK$'000 %
Total Revenue U A FTAT %
LED Backlight LED & 950,106 42.9 847,556 37.7
LED Lighting LED & AR 94,777 4.3 81,995 3.6
High-tech Electronic Components &R EFZ 4R
and Products Sourcing EmEREE 1,170,091 52.8 1,320,235 58.7
2,214,974 100 2,249,786 100.0
Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin EFMRERE

For the year ended 31 December 2019, gross profit from the sales
of LED backlight and LED lighting products was approximately
HK$209,934,000, representing a decrease of 9.2% from
approximately HK$231,225,000 in 2018. Gross profit margin for
these two segments decreased by 4.8 percentage points from 24.9%
in 2018 to 20.1% in 2019. Gross profit and gross profit margin
from high-tech electronic components and products sourcing were
HK$19,033,000 and 1.63% (2018: HK$16,038,000 and 1.21%)
respectively. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s
overall gross profit was approximately HK$228,967,000, representing
a decrease of 7.4% from approximately HK$247,263,000 in 2018.
Overall gross profit margin was 10.3% in 2019, representing a
decrease of 0.7 percentage points from 11.0% in 2018.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Labour costs, sales commissions and transportation costs were the
Group’s major selling and distribution expenses. For the year ended
31 December 2019, the Group’s selling and distribution expenses
was approximately HK$25,553,000, representing increase of 13.6%
compared to approximately HK$22,487,000 for the year 2018, which
was in line with the Group’s revenue from sales of LED backlight and
LED lighting products.
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Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses refer to the general expenses incurred in
offices and factories. The Group focuses on effective management
by means of resource consolidation in the Shenzhen and Huizhou
factories. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s
administrative expenses was approximately HK$101,597,000, which
increased by 11.6% compared to approximately HK$91,034,000 for
the year 2018. The increase was mainly attributable to the expansion
in business scale and increase in labour cost.

Other Income

During the year ended 31 December 2019, other income was
approximately HK$21,148,000, representing a decrease of 34.4% in
comparison with approximately HK$32,232,000 for the year 2018.

Taxation

Taxation comprised current tax and movements in deferred tax
assets and liabilities. Two of the Group’s subsidiaries, Wai Chi Opto
Technology (Shenzhen) Limited (“Shenzhen Wai Chi”) and Huizhou
Wai Chi Electronics Company Limited, are qualified as “High-Tech
Enterprises” in the PRC and granted certain tax benefits, including a
preferential enterprise income tax rate of 15% instead of the statutory
rate of 25%. During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s
tax expenses amounted to approximately HK$3,021,000 (2018:
HK$4,418,000).

Inventories

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s inventories was approximately
HK$211,584,000, representing an increase of 12.3% as compared
to approximately HK$188,406,000 as at 31 December 2018. The
increase in inventory was attributable to inventory of memory chips
maintained for the sourcing business.

Trade Receivables

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s net trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$454,279,000, which increased by
10.9% as compared to approximately HK$409,549,000 as at 31
December 2018. This was attributable to the increase in sales of LED
backlight and LED lighting products.
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Trade Payables

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s trade payables amounted
to approximately HK$241,923,000, which increased by 31.4% as
compared to approximately HK$184,162,000 as at 31 December
2018. This was attributable to the increase in purchase of raw
materials for LED backlight and LED lighting products.

Placing of New Shares and Offer to Acquire the
Company’s Shares

On 6 May 2016, the Company completed a placing of new shares
(the “Placing”), allotted and issued 16,825,000 new shares of
the Company to not less than six individuals who are independent
third parties at the price of HK$2.00 per share. Net proceeds from
the Placing amounted to approximately HK$31,134,000, which
are intended to be used for financing any potential investment
opportunities such as mergers and acquisition that may arise from
time to time. As at 31 December 2019, the net proceeds from the
Placing have not yet been utilised and have been deposited with
licensed banks in Hong Kong.

The Company has explored various potential merger and acquisition
projects and their feasibility over the past few years. These include
preliminary discussions about the arrangements for the potential
merger and acquisition with the Group’s suppliers and customers in
various business sectors.

However, after discussion and deliberation by the Company’s
management team, it was considered that those projects would
neither be compatible with nor facilitate the Company’s future
development and business growth. Hence, the Company had not
utilized the proceeds from the Placing on such projects.

The Company will continue to seek opportunities for merger and

acquisition that may arise from time to time and expects to use the
proceeds from the Placing for merger and acquisition in 2020.
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DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
EE  BREEARRER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yiu Chi To, age 57, is the founder of our Group, the executive
Director and Chairman of our Company. He was appointed as
an executive Director of our company on 16 August 2013. He is
responsible for formulating corporate strategies and overseeing the
Group’s business development and operation as well as monitoring
the Group’s administration. He also plays a role in developing
new technology and innovations with our Group’s research and
development team and maintaining good relationships with our major
customers. Mr. Yiu has more than 30 years of working experience
in the LED industry. Mr. Yiu had successfully registered patents in
the PRC for the new technologies that he had developed, including
“Double sided light emitting backlight” in 2003, “Bottom-side dual-
efficient LED white light” in 2004, and “LED with heat dissipation” in
2005. From 2009 to present, Mr. Yiu also served as a deputy director
for the Shenzhen Light Emitting Diode Industry Association. In 2018,
Mr. Yiu was appointed as deputy director of Bao’an District Five
Industrial Top 100 Enterprise Federation.

Mr. Yiu graduated from Fujian Jinjiang Neikeng High School in 1978.
Prior to the establishment of the Group, from 1979 to 1981 he worked
in an electronic watch manufacturing company initially as an assembly
line worker, and was later promoted to a manager where he was
involved in sales and marketing of the electronic watches and in 1982
he started a business in the electronic watch industry and ceased
the business in 1984 before establishing the Group. In 1984, Mr. Yiu
founded Wai Chi Electronics Co. Mr. Yiu is the father of Ms. Yiu Kwan
Yu and father-in-law of Mr. Chen Chung Po.

Mr. Chen Chung Po, age 42, was appointed as executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of our Company on 16 August 2013.
He is responsible for the day-to-day management of our Group
including administration, procurement, production as well as financial
management. Mr. Chen received his Bachelor of Arts in Business
Studies degree from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November
2000. He has more than 10 years of working experience in banking and
finance fields. After graduation, he joined Bank of China (Hong Kong)
as a credit analyst and was gradually promoted to Branch Manager
from 2000 to 2006. From 2006 to 2010, he worked with the Sun Hung
Kai Group of companies serving as the Vice President of Sales Division
in Wealth Management when he resigned in 2011. From 2011 to 2012,
he was a person licensed to carry on Type 2 regulated activity. Prior
1o joining our Group, he was the sales director in GF Securities (Hong
Kong) Brokerage Limited from 2011 to 2013. Mr. Chen is the husband
of Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu, son-in-law of Mr. Yiu Chi To.

2019 Annual Report | £ &

HITES
WEBEE 5758 AEEARA BEARQ
AIRITEERETE - R 2013F8 A 16 HE
ZEAEARBINITES  BEGIELERKE
REBASBEMNERERLEE URER
ARE BTN o 1% B 7N £ B i 5% & B A A B2
FEMMEF BT ERFPH#BFRTBEERS
MIMEEAE - kA ERLEDITEBHEEI0
FITEER - AEERDN PR AEEFE
RFT T E R - S5 B FE2003F 1 [ &
MEEHAERFE] - 2004F 0 [EAIMRE SR
LED A& | % 2005 F /) [ #5 B ZA N sE /I LED ] ©
2009 F =% + ok o £ I EERIITLED &
¥feagreR R2018F hEEEEZ T
AREZRAEARCERAERIER -

PR AR 19T8 FEENEBREE I LNIAE -
AR AREBE R R1979F F 19814 » PEoL e
R—HEFFEEEQARER - JEETE
e AE  HEESEARKE RHEEHE
FFHRBERTIGHERNZER - BN 19824F
FIIRE FFRITEMER - WiN1984F AL
REBE 2RI IEZET - R1984F » Bhot 4
B BEBFRAR - hEERBKERMEZ LW
R MARERZLENERL -

PREEEEE 4257 M2013F 8 A16HEZL
EERRRNTESRITRBRE  AELE
EMmAEEE BETR KB Z£ZEUK
B 7S B I8 o PR A 2000F 11 A RIS E A
BITREMNTHEBE B LTEM - HRIRTT
FERMAEABIOELERR 2% &
MAREERIT (BB BEEEESME - LR
2000 F ZE2006 F B M BEHE D ITLIE ©
2006 F E2010FE » BB E S FIEEE
TRARMEE  ER2011 FREREETHE
EIIHEDIREIEE - 2011 FE2012F »
EREETE _BEXREETH - MALAEE
AT A 2011 EE 2013 FRIEFEEREA (B
B)ERARIMEELE - REELEAKE
AR IRAKER LA LZLE -

21



DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

EF SREEREARRRER

Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu, age 35, was appointed as executive Director
of our Company on 16 August 2013. She is also the Sales and
Marketing Manager of Wai Chi Opto Technology Limited since
2009. Ms. Yiu joined us in 2008 and served as Sales and Marketing
Executive initially. She is responsible for the sales and marketing of
our LED lighting division and she is also in charge of the research and
development department of our LED lighting division. Ms. Yiu received
her Bachelor’'s degree of Applied Science in Electrical Engineering
from The University of British Columbia in May 2008 and her Master
of Lighting degree from the Queensland University of Technology in
May 2012. Ms. Yiu was admitted as Engineer by the Corporation of
Seven Wardens Inc. in 2008. She also held the Directorship of Hong
Kong Critical Component Manufacturing Association from 2009 to
2012 and the Directorship of Hong Kong Opto Mechatronics Industry
Association from 2012 to 2018. Ms. Yiu is the elder daughter of Mr.
Yiu Chi To and wife of Mr. Chen Chung Po.

Mr. Chen Wei Wu, age 56, was appointed as executive Director
of our Company on 11 March 2014. He is the Financial Controller
of Shenzhen Wai Chi since 2010. He is responsible for the financial
management and day-to-day financial operation in the PRC region.
He has 30 years of experience in commercial and finance fields.
From 1984 to 1992, Mr. Chen served as Accounting Officer in Jinan
Chemicals Factory at Hengyang City of Hunan. From 1992 to 1997,
he served as Financial Controller in Shenzhen Zhonggiao Group at
Shenzhen. From 1997 to 2001, he served as Vice General Manager
and Chief Financial Controller in Shenzhen Shennan Merchants
Group. From 2001 to 20086, he served as the Assistant to the
General Manager and head of the Capital Department in Shenzhen
Saigedasheng Joint-stock Company Limited. From 2006 to 2008,
he served as the General Manager of the Audit Planning Department
in GD Hengfeng Investment Group Co., Ltd. From 2008 to 2010,
he served as the General Manager of Group Finance Division in
Shenzhen Shangtianran Investment Company Limited. Mr. Chen
studied and graduated from the correspondence course in industrial
accountancy and received the professional certificate in industrial
accountancy from the Hunan College of Finance and Economics in
July 1987. In October 1994, Mr. Chen was conferred by the Ministry
of Finance in the PRC the qualification of an accountant specializing
in corporate accounting. In April 2011, Mr. Chen was admitted as
Senior International Finance Manager by the International Financial
Management Association and in December 2017, Mr. Chen was
admitted as Senior Accountant by the Human Resources and Social
Security Department of Guangdong Province. In June 2012, Mr.
Chen obtained his Master of Business Administration degree from the
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law. In November 2014, Mr.
Chen obtained his Doctor of Business Administration degree from the
Victoria University of Switzerland.
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Ms. Yong Jian Hui, age 43, was appointed as executive Director
of our Company on 11 March 2014. She joined our Company
since 2003. She is currently the Deputy General Manager and the
Head of Sales Department of Wai Chi Opto Technology (Shenzhen)
Company Limited. She is responsible for the sales and marketing of
our LED backlight products. She has more than 10 years of working
experience in sales and marketing of backlight products. Prior to
her joining our Company, Ms. Yong served as the head of Sales
Department at Wah Mei Electronics (Shenzhen) Company Limited
from 2000 to 2002. Ms. Yong received the certificate on achieving the
third grade in University English from the Hunan Radio & TV University
in March 1998 and her Master of Business Administration degree
from the Southwest Jiaotong University in June 2012.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, age 56, was appointed as independent
non-executive Director (“INED”) of our Company on 11 March 2014.

Mr. Au Yeung obtained a Professional Diploma in Accountancy in The
Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in 1987. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Society of Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Au Yeung had worked for a number of years for
Price Waterhouse (now known as PricewaterhouseCoopers), had
acted as a financial manager of a listed company and a major private
company respectively in Hong Kong. He has been a certified public
accountant since 1994 and has over thirty years’ experience in
auditing, finance and administration. He is now the director of Lau &
Au Yeung C.P.A. Limited.

Mr. Au Yeung was appointed in May 2006 and is currently acting as
an independent non-executive director of Amvig Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 2300, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, formerly known as Vision Grande Group Holdings Limited),
Mr. Au Yeung was also appointed on 12 August 2016 and is currently
acting as an independent non-executive director of Man Shing Global
Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 8309, a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange).
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Mr. Chen Kwok Wang, age 57, was appointed as INED of our
Company on 11 March 2014.

Mr. Chen is currently a Partner at Messrs. Fairbairn, Catley, Low &
Kong. He has been admitted as a Solicitor of the High Court since
2005. He obtained his Bachelor of Laws from the University of
Wolverhampton in February 2002 and his Postgraduate Certificate
in Laws from the University of Hong Kong in June 2003. Mr. Chen
obtained a Bachelor of Science degree in Engineering in November
1986 and also a Master of Business Administration degree in
December 1997 from the University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chen was a Member of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants
(now known as Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants)
in 1990.

Prior to establishing his career in the legal field, Mr. Chen worked
in an international accounting firm from 1986 to 1991 as a Staff
Accountant and was eventually promoted to the position of Audit
Supervisor. In 1992 to 1993, Mr. Chen became an Internal Auditor at
the Hong Kong branch of a bank. In 1993 to 2000, Mr. Chen worked
at The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in the capacity as
a Manager and was eventually promoted to the position of Senior
Manager. In 2001 to 2002, Mr. Chen worked at the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong as a Manager where he was
responsible for day-to-day supervision of financial intermediaries.
Mr. Chen was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Fujian Start Group Co., Ltd, a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600734), on 20 May 2014 and PPS
International (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code 8201, a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange), during the period from 19 November 2014 to 30
December 2015.
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Mr. Ho Chi Wai, age 45, was appointed as INED of our Company on
11 March 2014.

Mr. Ho is currently a partner of SRF Partners & Co., CPAs. He
obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from
Lingnan University in November 1997 and a Master’s degree in
Finance from Jinan University in December 2012. He is currently a
practicing certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, a certified tax adviser and fellow member of
the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and an associate of the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong, a fellow member of the Association of
International Accountants.

Mr. Ho has over 22 years of experience in audit assurance and
business consulting. Prior to his own practice in 2012, Mr. Ho worked
as an Audit Senior in a local accounting firm from 1997 to 2000. From
2000 to 2010, Mr. Ho was the audit manager in a sizable accounting
firm and from 2010 to 2011 he became the Principal of the group to
which the said accountancy firm belonged.

Mr. Ho acted as an independent non-executive director of Capital
Finance Holdings Limited (Stock Code 8239, a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange, formerly known as Ming Kei Holdings
Limited) from June 2012 to October 2013.

Mr. Ho was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Affluent Foundation Holdings Limited (Stock Code 1757, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) on 13 May 2018
and Mr. Ho was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Hyfusin Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code 8512, a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange) on 23 June 2018.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Luo Zeng Chang, age 38, joined our Company since 2003 and
is currently the General Manager of our Project Design Department
of Shenzhen Wai Chi. Mr. Luo is responsible for supervising the
designs of our products. Prior to joining our Company, Mr. Luo was
a research development engineer with a small to medium size LED
backlight module manufacturing company from 2002 to 2003. Mr.
Luo was then employed as a senior technician at Shenzhen Wai Chi
in 2003 and was the leader of our Design Project Department from
2004 to 2007. He was then appointed as the Vice General Manager
of our Design Project Department at Shenzhen Wai Chi in 2008. Mr.
Luo obtained a graduation certificate specializing in Mechatronics
from Jiaying University in July 2001.

COMPANY SECRETARY AND CHIEF
FINANCIAL OFFICER

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung, age 38, was appointed as the Chief
Financial Officer of our Company on 11 March 2014 and appointed
as the Company Secretary of our Company on 12 November 2015.

Mr. Cheung is responsible for our financial management other
than the PRC. Mr. Cheung has over 9 years of experience in audit
assurance. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Cheung worked as audit
trainee in Eric Ng & Co. from June 20083 to July 2004 and as audit
manager in Jonten Hopkins CPA Limited from July 2004 to March
2014. Mr. Cheung graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with an honors degree in Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy
in November 2003. He is currently a certified public accountant of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a certified tax
adviser at the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. Cheung was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited (Stock Code 8299, a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange) on 27 August 2018. Mr.
Cheung was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1941, a company
listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange) on 17 February 2020.
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present this report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (the “Consolidated Financial
Statements”).

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and is
domiciled in Hong Kong and has its principal place of business at
6th Floor, Liven House, Nos. 61-63 King Yip Street, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities and particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in Note 38 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year ended 31 December 2019.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
(the “Reporting Period”) are set out in the Consolidated Financial
Statements on pages 76 to 186 of this annual report. The Directors
do not recommend the payment of a dividend and resolve not to
declare any final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2019.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) to be held on 22 May
2020 (Friday), the register of members of the Company will be closed
from 18 May 2020 (Monday) to 22 May 2020 (Friday), both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of
shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer
forms must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 15 May 2020 (Friday). The record date for the
entitlement to attend the AGM will be on 15 May 2020 (Friday).
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 30 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 80 to 81 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders is approximately HK$331,977,000
(2018: approximately HK$331,977,000), representing the balance of
share premium account which can be authorised for this purpose in
accordance with the Company Law of Cayman Islands.

BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2019 are set out in Note 25 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio of the Group, based on
total borrowings (including bank and other borrowing, corporate
bonds and lease liabilities (2018: obligations under finance lease)) to
the equity (including all capital and reserves) of the Company, was
45.1% (2018: 48.2%).
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 2,425 employees. The
Group recognized the importance of maintaining good relationship
with its employees and retaining competent staff to ensure operational
efficiency and effectiveness. In the year ended 31 December 2019,
the Group had not encountered any significant problems with its
employees, and there had not been any dispute between the Group
and its employees that might have caused any disruption to the
Group’s business or operation. The Group has had no difficulty
in recruiting and retaining experienced staff. The remuneration of
each employee of the Group is determined on the basis of his or
her performance and responsibility. The Group provides training to
employees.

The total staff cost incurred by the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019 was approximately HK$215,490,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained the percentage of public float
as prescribed in the Rules governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the
Reporting Period and at any time before and up to the date of this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2019 and up to and including the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yiu Chi To (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Chung Po (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu

Mr. Chen Wei Wu

Ms. Yong Jian Hui

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah
Mr. Chen Kwok Wang
Mr. Ho Chi Wai

In accordance with article 84(1) and 84(2) of the Company’s articles of
association, each of Mr. Yiu Chi To, Mr. Chen Chung Po and Ms. Yiu
Kwan Yu, all of whom were appointed as executive directors on 16
August 2013 will retire as Directors at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, and they, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
thereat.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group as at the date of this annual report are set
out on pages 21 to 26 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Yiu Chi To, Mr. Chen Chung Po and Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu
has entered into a service agreement with the Company for three
years from 16 August 2019, and each of the service agreements may
be terminated by either party by giving not less than three months’
written notice.

Each of Mr. Chen Wei Wu and Ms. Yong Jian Hui has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for three years from 11 March
2020, and each of the service agreements may be terminated by
either party by giving not less than three months’ written notice.

Each of Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, Mr. Chen Kwok Wang and Mr. Ho
Chi Wai has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of two years commencing from 11 March 2020 and each
of the letters of appointment may be terminated by either party by
giving not less than two months’ written notice.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a contract of
service with the Company or any of its subsidiaries not determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (except for statutory compensation).

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are determined by the Remuneration Committee with reference
to their relevant qualifications, experience, competence and the
prevailing market conditions. None of the Directors waived or agreed
to waive any emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration of the Group as at the date of

this annual report are set out in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2019 were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or minor children (under 18 years of age), or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement whose objectives are to enable a Director of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart from
the Group’s business, that competes or competed or is or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to and
including the date of this annual report.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS AND
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the sub-section headed “Connected
Transaction” below and “Related Party Transactions and Balances”
in Note 33 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, no contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or a
controlling shareholder had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December 2019
or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY OF
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive personnel of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)), as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(“Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were
as follows:
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Notes:

1. Mr. Yiu Chi To holds 100% of the issued share capital of Rexell Technology
Company Limited, which is the controlling shareholder holding approximately
59.09% of the issued share capital of the Company.

2. The letter “L” denotes the Directors’ long position in the shares of the
Company or the relevant associated corporation.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors and chief executive personnel of the Company had or
was deemed to have any interests or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest
or short positions which they had taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PARTIES IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, so far as the directors and chief executive
officer of the Company were aware, the following persons and
corporations (excluding the directors and chief executive officer of
the Company) had interests or short positions in any of the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or
who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the shares
of the Company.
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of issued share

Name of Shareholder Capacity/nature of interest shares held capital
BRITREAZ
REREE 51 #ERstE Frishgia 88 BHEGT
Rexell Technology Company Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 128,120,000 59.09%
TR ARAT (M) EnfEBA
Mr. Yiu Chi To (Note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 128,120,000 59.09%
sk E %A (EE2) RE LB ER
Ms. Luk Fong (Note 3) Interest of spouse 128,120,000 59.09%
Bie 5 22+ (£ 3) fic (8 1 &
Notes: MI5E -

1. Rexell Technology Company Limited directly holds 128,120,000 shares
representing approximately 59.09% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

2. Mr. Yiu Chi To is the legal and beneficial owner of all the issued shares of
Rexell Technology Company Limited and is therefore deemed to be interested
in all the shares of the Company held by Rexell Technology Company Limited
under the SFO.

3. Ms. Luk Fong, as the spouse of Mr. Yiu Chi To, is deemed to be interested in
the shares held by Rexell Technology Company Limited by virtue of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE

As permitted by the articles of association of the Company, a director
of the Company may be indemnified out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which the director shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of his or her duty as a director of the Company,
to the extent permitted by law. Such permitted indemnity provision
has been in force since the adoption of the articles of association of
the Company on 27 October 2014 and is currently in force at the time
of approval of this report.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its directors
and officers.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of the controlling shareholders has confirmed to the Company
of its/his compliance with the terms and undertakings of the deed
of non-competition provided to the Company under the Deed of
Non-competition (as defined in the Company’s prospectus dated
4 November 2014). The INEDs of the Company have reviewed
the status of compliance and confirmed that all the terms and
undertakings under the Deed of Non-competition have been complied
with by the controlling shareholders.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 188 of this
annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has had
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules, which are exempt from the connected transaction
requirements under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. Details of the
significant transactions with related parties are set out in Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the largest supplier
accounted for 28% of the Group’s purchases and the five largest
suppliers accounted for 59% of the Group’s total purchases. The
largest customer accounted for 24% of the Group’s revenue and
the five largest customers accounted for 73% of the Group’s total
revenue.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company'’s share capital) has an
interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to approximately HK$135,000 (2018: approximately HK$118,000).

CORPORATE BOND

Details of movement in corporate bond issued by the Company
during the year are set out in Note 28 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers all the INEDs to be independent.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased or redeemed any of the listed
shares of the Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board considers sustainable returns to shareholders to be one of
the main objectives. Stable dividend payment to shareholders is the
primary objective of the Company. The basic policy is to pay interim
and final dividends in each financial year.

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles
of Association of the Company, all of the shareholders have equal
rights to dividends and distributions. The Board determines the
interim dividend and recommends the final dividend which requires
the approval of shareholders. In addition to cash, dividends may
be distributed in the form of shares. Any distribution of shares also
requires the approval of shareholders.

Retained surplus is used to achieve further gains in corporate value.
For this purpose, the Board makes effective use of retained surplus
to strengthen the operating base and fund growth of established
businesses and the development of new businesses. The Board takes
into account the following factors when considering the declaration
and payment of dividends:

° liquidity position of the Company;

e financial results;

e  shareholders’ interests;

e general business conditions and strategies;

e  capital requirements;

e  contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the
Company to the shareholders or by the subsidiaries to the
Company, if any;

e  taxation considerations;

e possible effects on the creditworthiness;

e  statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

e any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Company will not declare any dividend(s) where:

e there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is
or would be, after a dividend payment, unable to pay its liabilities
or discharge its obligations as and when they become due;

° pursuant to dividend decision date, the Company is insolvent or
bankrupt or where, as a result of paying dividends, the Company
would be rendered insolvent or bankrupt; or

e thereis any other case set forth by any law.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company and its management are committed to maintain
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all shareholders.
The Company believes that good corporate governance is essential
for continual growth and enhancement of shareholder’s value. For
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has applied
and complied with the code provisions stipulated in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company periodically
reviews its corporate governance practices with reference to the
latest development in corporate governance. The Group’s principal
corporate governance practices and compliance with code provisions
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 41 to 60 of
this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITIES

During the Reporting Period, the Group is committed to promote
the long-term, steady and sustainable development of employees,
environmental protection and social responsibilities on a continuous
basis.

The Group’s environmental policies and performance are set out in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 61 to 68
of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed with the management the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019, the accounting principles and practices adopted and discussed
auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters.
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AUDITOR

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by
SHINEWING. A resolution to re-appoint SHINEWING as our auditor
will be submitted for shareholders’ approval at our forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Mr. YIU Chi To
Executive Director and Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance (“CG”). The Board believes that adherence
to CG practices will definitely be beneficial to the Company’s
shareholders in the long term. For the year ended 31 December 2019
(“FY2019”), the Company has applied the principles and complied
with all the applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
in force at that time.

The Board considers that good CG is central to safeguarding the
interests of the shareholders and enhancing the performance of
the Group. The Board will continuously review and improve the CG
practices and standards of the Company to ensure that business
activities and decision making processes are regulated in a proper
and prudent manner.

With a view to further improving the Company’s CG practices, the
following actions were taken in 2019:

e Appointment of INEDs with appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management experience with
regulatory entities to further broaden the collective knowledge,
perspectives and skills of the Board.

e All members of the Audit Committee are INEDs and all of them
have appropriate professional accounting qualifications and
financial management experience.

° Provision of internal training to the Board through implementing
a continuous professional development programme.

e To adopt Board diversity policy in order to diversify the
composition of the Board so as to recognize and embrace the
benefits of having a diverse Board and to enhance the quality
of its performance. In designing the Board’s composition with
regard to Board diversity, the Board has taken into account
a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors. Pursuant to specific
enquiry by the Company, all the Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards regarding directors’
securities transactions as set out in the Model Code and its code of
conduct during the FY2019.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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THE BOARD

The Board is mainly responsible for the overall strategic development
of and is also responsible for monitoring the financial performance,
risk management and the internal controls of the Group. With a
wide range of expertise and a balance of skills, the INEDs bring
independent judgment on issues of strategic direction, development,
performance and risk management through their contribution at
Board meetings and committee work.

Distinctive Roles of the Board and the Management

The Board has the collective responsibility for leadership and
control of, and for promoting the success of, the Group by directing
and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board is responsible for
determining the overall strategy and corporate development and
ensuring the business operations are properly monitored. The Board
reserves the right to decide all policy matters of the Group and
material transactions.

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and
monitoring the operations of the Group, in discharging its duties,
certain responsibilities are delegated to:

i) the standing Board committees of the Company namely: the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Risk Management Committee. Each
committee’s constitution, powers and duties are clearly defined
by its terms of reference, and the committees are accountable
to the Board;

i) the Chief Executive Officer, being delegated with the day-to-day
management of the businesses of the Group, is accountable to
the Board; and

i) the senior management team of the Group, being delegated
with the responsibilities to deal with daily operational functions,
is answerable to the Board.

The Board regularly reviews its arrangement for delegation of
authority to ensure that such delegation is appropriate in view of the
Company’s prevailing circumstances and that appropriate reporting
systems are in place.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Appointment and re-election of Directors

All of the Directors have entered into service agreements or letters of
appointment and the details of their terms are set out in the Report
of the Directors on pages 27 to 40 of this annual report. At each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a
Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. Retiring Directors
are eligible for re-election and re-election of retiring Directors at
the annual general meeting is dealt with by separate resolutions
for each individual Director. Where vacancies arise at the Board,
candidates will be proposed and put forward to the Board by the
Nomination Committee as more fully explained below in the section
on Nomination Committee. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill
a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after
his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board is composed of five executive
Directors and three INEDs, as shown on page 3 of this annual report.
Biographies of the Company’s Directors are shown on pages 21 to
26 of this annual report.

INEDs ensure the Board accounts for the interests of all shareholders
and considers major issues objectively. The Board has received from
each INED an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers all of the INEDs
to be independent. INEDs represent 37.5% of the full Board.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, there is no financial, business
and family relationship among members of the Board except that Mr.
Yiu Chi To is the father of Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu and father-in-law of Mr.
Chen Chung Po and that Mr. Chen Chung Po and Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu
are a married couple.

Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) and the Chief Executive
Officer (“CEQ”) are Mr. Yiu Chi To and Mr. Chen Chung Po,
respectively.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Induction, Information and ongoing Development

All Directors have been kept informed on a timely basis of major
changes that may have affected the Group’s businesses, including
relevant rules and regulations. In addition, the Group has implemented
a continuing development programme to update the Directors (in
particular INEDs) on the macro-economic conditions and business
environment relevant to the Group’s major operations.

In addition to the above, each newly-appointed Director has received
a tailored induction programme, which covered briefing on the
Company’s overview by the CEO, meeting with the management
and the Company’s external legal adviser on directors’ legal role and
responsibilities. To further maximize the contribution from INEDs,
separate meeting between the Chairman and INEDs was held in
November 2019 to address business and related issues. Written
procedures are also in place for Directors to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s
expense. No request was made by any Director for such independent
professional advice during the FY2019.

During the FY2019, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills in accordance with code provision A.6.5 contained in the CG
Code. Each of the Directors has received a series of training locally or
overseas. Relevant trainings and briefings included, among others:

e  development of national and global economy;

° national policy outlook;

e  corporate governance;

e  regulatory updates; and

° LED backlight and lighting industry development trend, etc.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Induction, Information and ongoing Development

(continued)

All Directors have also provided to the Company their records of
training attended or fulfilment of ongoing development requirements
for the FY2019, the information of which has been entered in the
register of directors’ training records maintained and updated by
the Company from time to time. The following table summarises the
compliance status of all Directors of the Company in respect of code

provision A.6.5 during the FY2019:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

E5E ()
Bl - BAFSEERRE(E

ERELWE

FIEEEEHARNRIRET 2019FHRFE
B HERNEIKFERFESRREERNRT
8o HPMEEEECHRARFEFEER
BENMMESEILREELMR - TERE
s TIRBSTBIEABSIE N 2019F B B 4
EARRZBEETMETER

In compliance
with Code A.6.5

Name of Directors EEng BFFHIEA65MKF
Executive Directors HiTES

Mr. Yiu Chi To (Chairman) kEB L (FE) 4
Mr. Chen Chung Po (Chief Executive Officer) PREE L ST A (7T AR #,) v/
Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu hEmZ L v
Mr. Chen Wei Wu PRAZE L& v
Ms. Yong Jian Hui HERIEL T+ v
Independent non-executive Directors BAEHTES

Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah B FS R 2E S v
Mr. Chen Kwok Wang R B 7% 5 A 4
Mr. Ho Chi Wai Al B 4 v
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THE BOARD (continued)

Role and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board delegates appropriate aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management. It also gives clear
directions as to the powers of the management, in particular, with
respect to the matters that the management must report back and
obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company. The Board
determines on a regular basis which functions are reserved to the
Board and which are delegated to the management.

The Board exercises a number of duties and powers which include:

e  formulating the Group’s long-term strategy;

e approving major acquisitions, disposals and capital investment;
° reviewing operational and financial performance;

e approving financial results and public announcements;

° reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control;

e authorizing material borrowings;
e setting dividend policy;

e approving appointment of members to the Board and senior
management; and

e setting the Group’s remuneration policy.
To assist in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities, the Board has
established four committees, namely the audit committee, the

remuneration committee, the nomination committee, and the risk
management committee.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board Processes

All Directors have been regularly updated on governance and
regulatory matters. There is an established procedure for Directors
to obtain independent professional advice at the expense of the
Company in the furtherance of their duties. The Company has also
taken out appropriate director and officer liability insurance against
liabilities that may be incurred as a result of potential legal actions that
might be taken against the Directors.

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to review the overall
strategies and monitor the operations as well as the financial
performance of the Group. The Chairman mainly focuses on Group
strategies and is responsible for chairing and managing the efficient
operation of the Board and ensuring that all key issues are considered
by the Board in a timely manner. Notice of at least 14 days has been
given to all Directors for all regular Board meetings and the Directors
can include matters for discussion in the agenda whenever they
consider appropriate and necessary. Agenda and accompanying
Board papers in respect of regular Board meetings are despatched
in full to all Directors within a reasonable time before the meeting. and
in any case, at least 3 days before the intended date of the meeting
or such other period as agreed before the meeting. Directors have
to declare their direct or indirect interests, if any, in any proposals
or transactions to be considered by the Board at Board meetings
and abstain from voting as appropriate. Draft minutes of all Board
meetings are circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable
time prior to finalisation of the same. Final versions of the minutes are
also circulated to Directors for record within a reasonable time after
the Board meeting is held.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board Processes (continued)

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are
kept by the Company Secretary. All Directors have free access to
Board papers and related materials, and are provided with adequate
information in a timely manner, enabling the Board to make informed
decision on matters placed before it. In FY2019, four Board meetings
were held and the attendance details are shown as follows:

BEFE(E)

EETERF(E)
EESNEEZE NS REBEARRNE
RE - 2REFVARSHEETIHHR
BREER TeRBERERNDER FE
ECUMRETZNETEHEHANBRE - B
O19FBITHFEN EFERTTHAESR
GRE LHROBHFBOT

Board Meetings
attended in FY2019

—E-NEHBEE
Name of Directors EEHA HEEEETEERE
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Yiu Chi To (Chairman) kLB EE (FE) 4/4
Mr. Chen Chung Po (Chief Executive Officer) PR L 5 A (TTIECAR L) 4/4
Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu B 2+ 4/4
Mr. Chen Wei Wu PRAZ I A4 4/4
Ms. Yong Jian Hui ERE LT 4/4
Independent non-executive Directors BAEHITES
Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah B 5 R 5 o A 4/4
Mr. Chen Kwok Wang R [ 7 5 A 4/4
Mr. Ho Chi Wai ISR LS 4/4
BOARD COMMITTEES EEEETZEZEYE
The Board has established four committees, namely audit committee, EEYERUNEZESY  MEXZED -
remuneration committee, nomination committee and risk management FTWEEe  REZEgNEAREEZES -
committee. Each of them has specific terms of reference and is ZLECcEEEERESE  BESETHE

responsible for reviewing matters relating to specific areas and which
are published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company for advising the Board on such matters. INEDs play a
significant role in these committees to ensure that independent and
objective views are taken. The list of the chairman and members of
each Board committee is set out on page 3 of this annual report. The
Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties.

48

RERAEARREBNEY  BEEEE
AN EHRENEE URZXEFHEANESS
REBR -BYFHNEURFLZESERE
2 DUHEARKDRBILEENER -REF
CETZREENIREAKEREHNAFR
FIR -EFERECREHATENERNE
TTHRBE -

Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited | {2&ZERAR L T



BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
(@) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and internal controls.

The Audit Committee comprises all three Independent Non-
executive Directors. Mr. Au Yeung Tin Wah, was appointed as
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the senior management
and external auditors the Group’s significant internal controls
and financial matters (as set out in the Audit Committee’s terms
of reference), including:

e the Group’s interim and annual financial statements with
recommendation to the Board for approval;

e the Group’s compliance with regulatory and statutory
requirements;

e the Group’s financial reporting, internal controls and risk
management;

e formulating the working plan of the internal control audit
department, discussing the review result of internal control
system on a regular basis and reporting to the Board;

e  discussing with the external auditors the nature and scope
of the audit, significant accounting policies and other audit-
related issues;

e  connected transactions; and
e managing and overseeing the external auditors.

The Audit Committee is entitled to conduct investigations into
any matter within its terms of reference and is authorised to
obtain independent professional advice if it deems necessary in
discharging its responsibilities.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the audit scope, process
and effectiveness and independence of the audit conducted
by SHINEWING and has thus recommended the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019 to the Board for its approval.

In FY2019, three meetings were held by the Audit Committee
with 100% attendance rate of all members of the Audit
Committee. Draft and final versions of minutes of the meetings
were sent to all members of the Audit Committee for their
comment and records, within a reasonable time after the
meeting.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(b)

a0

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company comprises all
three INEDs. Mr. Ho Chi Wai, was appointed as Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to
the Board on the Group’s overall policy and structure for the
remuneration of Directors and senior management, and ensures
that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee also
reviews and approves (i) compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that such compensation
is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive; and (i) compensation arrangement(s) relating to
dismissal or removal of Director(s) for misconduct to ensure that
such compensation arrangements is consistent with contractual
terms and is otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

The Company has delegated the determination of the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director and
senior management to the Remuneration Committee.

In determining the remuneration of Directors, the Remuneration
Committee takes into consideration factors such as salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of the Directors and the suitability of performance-based
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets to determine the policy
for the remuneration of Directors, assess the performance
of executive Directors and approve the terms of executive
Directors’ service contracts. In FY2019, two meetings were held
by the Remuneration Committee with 100% attendance rate of
all members of the Remuneration Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(c) Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company comprises all three
Independent Non-executive Directors. Mr. Chen Kwok Wang,
was appointed as Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the candidates’ qualification and competence, and making
recommendations to the Board on appointment of Directors, so
as to ensure that all nominations are fair and reasonable.

The responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are:

e {0 review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually;

e to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

e to establish a formal and transparent procedure for the
appointment or reappointment of Directors;

° to make recommendations to the Board for new
appointments or reappointments of executive and non-
executive Directors;

e to evaluate the performance of Directors and determine if
they should be reappointed; and

e to be responsible for significant issues concerning the
nomination of Directors during the year.

The Nomination Committee meets to discuss the procedures
and criteria which should be adopted by them in nominating
candidates for directorship and has agreed that such criteria
should include the candidates’ professional background,
their experience and their past track record with other listed
companies (if any). In FY2019, two meetings were held by
the Nomination Committee with 100% attendance rate of all
members of the Nomination Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(c)

92

Nomination Committee (continued)

Board Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Nomination Policy and
Nomination Committee consider and make recommendations
to shareholders for the election of appropriate candidates as
Directors at general meetings or appointment of such Directors
to fill casual vacancies.

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

1. reputation for integrity;

2. accomplishment and experience in the business in which
the Group is engaged in;

3.  commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest in the business;

4. diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to race,
gender, age (18 years or above), educational background,
professional experience, skills and length of service;

5. qualifications which include professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

6. the number of existing directors and other commitments
that may demand the attention of the candidate;

7. requirement for the Board to have Independent
Non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidates would be considered as
independent with reference to the Independence guidelines
set out in Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules;

8. Board Diversity Policy of the Company and any policies
adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving
diversity on the Board; and

9. such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(d) Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee comprises three members
which include the Chief Executive Officer (“CEOQ”), Chief Financial
Officer (“CFO”) and one INED of the Company. The Board has
appointed Mr. Chen Chung Po (CEO), Mr. Cheung Wai Hung
(CFO) and Mr. Chen Kwok Wang (INED) as members of the Risk
Management Committee. Mr. Chen Chung Po has also been
appointed as the Chairman of the Risk Management Committee.

The primary responsibilities of the Risk Management Committee
include reviewing the Company’s corporate risk management
framework, and the guidelines, policies and procedures for
risk assessment and risk management and reviewing the
effectiveness of the risk management function.

In FY2019, two meetings with attendance of all Risk
Management Committee members were held.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid to the external auditors of the
Company, SHINEWING, in respect of its audit services and non-audit
services for FY2019 amounted to HK$1,045,000 and HK$220,000
respectively. The details and fee for non-audit services are set out
below:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle C.2 of the
CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. The management is responsible for the
design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the
Board oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing
basis. The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following aspects:

° Identification: Identify occurrence and changes in the nature and
extent of risks; identify business objectives and risks that could
affect the achievement of those objectives.

e  Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly; assess the Group’s ability
to manage risks.

° Management: Consider the risk response plan, ensure effective
communication with the Board and monitor risks on an ongoing

basis.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2019, no significant risk
was identified.

94

L B B 3 )% 10 B B =

AEERAFE  DETEEEATAC2R
A FIEE MR E R E R Kk AT
Zit- EEERERABEARGNRE  BiEHN
ER EEgAEREAEBEEENTA
RS RREENMAREERGN IR
BN EE T :

[ B E IR 2R A

AEBRAERREERSG BHREAZEBR
EERBENER ZEAGEREATETH

o B MAERGERREEERNRE
MBE BB EERTEYEEE
EROAR -

o AFEROTEEANLE - B
B ERBRAA | FEAEENHEB
EI2gED) -

« ERCEEABREHIE BRAEE

ENBEREE  UHEEZERR -

RIZ 2019 FHETHIRR RS - REIREARE

Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited | &R ER Q7



RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COS0”) 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve effective and efficient operations,
reliable financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follows:

e  Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for the Group’s implementation
of internal control.

e  Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.

e Control Activities: Development of policies and procedures to
facilitate risk reduction and effective management.

° Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information

needed to carry out day-to-day management.

e  Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each component of internal control exists and functions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In order to enhance the Group’s inside information processing
system and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and
implements an inside information policy and procedures. A series of
appropriate measures have been taken from time to time to prevent
any breach of the Group’s disclosure requirements, which include:

e  The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

° Non-disclosure agreements are in place when the Group
conducts significant negotiations.

e  The Executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in FY2019, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which is performed
by professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public
Accountant). The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily
operation and carries out appraisal of the risk management and
internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and
tests of operational effectiveness.

An |IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal control
systems is conducted semi-annually and the results are reported to
the Board via the Audit Committee afterwards.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and ensuring that a review of the effectiveness
of these systems which covers a period of 6 months since the last
review has been conducted semi-annually. Several areas have been
considered during the Board’s reviews, which include but are not
limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks
since the last review, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes
in its business and the external environment; (ii) the scope and
quality of the management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control systems and the work of IA function; (i) the extent
and frequency of communication with the Board in relation to the
result of risk and internal control review; (iv) significant failures or
weaknesses identified and their related implications; (v) and the status
of compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Board, through its reviews and the reviews conducted by
IA function and the Audit Committee, concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources,
the qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate, and
the training programs and budget provided were sufficient to carry
out such work.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and comply with the requirement of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (‘Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance”) and the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Listing Rules. The auditors are responsible for forming an
independent opinion, based on the audit, on the financial statements
prepared by the Directors and reporting the opinion solely to the
Company’s shareholders. The Independent Auditor’s Report is set out
on pages 69 to 75 of this annual report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung is the Company Secretary of the Company. Al
members of the Board have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. The appointment and removal of the Company
Secretary are subject to the Board’s approval. In FY2019, Mr. Cheung
has taken the required number of hours of relevant professional
training.

INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER RELATION

The Company endeavors to continue maintaining a high level of
transparency in communicating with shareholders and the investment
community at large. Briefings and meetings with institutional investors
and analysts are conducted regularly. The Company is committed to
maintaining an open and effective investor communication policy and
to update investors on relevant information on its business on a timely
manner, subject to relevant regulatory requirements.

In order to ensure effective, clear and accurate communications
with the investors and analysts, all corporate communications are
arranged and handled by the CFO of the Company in accordance
with the established practice and procedures.

Financial information and all shareholder corporate communications
of the Company are made available on the Company’s website at
http://www.waichiholdings.com and updated regularly on a timely
basis.

The Board and the management shall ensure shareholders’ right
and all shareholders are treated equitably and fairly. The Company
has announced and published its interim and annual results and
despatched them to the shareholders in a timely manner, which
is well before the time limits set out in the Listing Rules. Separate
resolutions will be proposed at the general meetings on each major
issue, including the re-election of individual Directors, if any.

The annual general meeting will provide an opportunity for direct
communication between the Board and the Company’s shareholders.
The Company regards the annual general meeting as an important
event in which the Chairman and all Directors will make an effort to
attend. External auditors shall also be invited to attend the Company’s
annual general meeting and are also available to assist the Directors
in addressing queries from shareholders relating to the conduct of
the audit and the preparation and content of the auditors’ report. All
shareholders will be given prior notice on a timely basis together with
a detailed agenda. The Board, according to the Listing Rules, will
conduct voting at the forthcoming AGM by poll. The results of the
Company will be declared at the meeting, and announced timely on
the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for convening an extraordinary
general meeting and putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

Any shareholder(s) individually or collectively holding 10% or more
of the Company’s total issued share capital shall be entitled to
request the Board in writing to convene an extraordinary general
meeting. Upon receiving such request, the Board shall issue a
notice of extraordinary general meeting within 21 days and hold an
extraordinary general meeting within two months from the receipt
of such request. If within 21 days of the receipt of such request the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the shareholder(s)
proposing to convene an extraordinary general meeting in writing may
himself/herself (themselves) convene an extraordinary general meeting
in the same manner.

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to make proposals or
move resolutions at the general meetings under the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company or the laws of the Cayman
Islands. Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a
resolution may, however, convene a general meeting in accordance
with the preceding paragraph.

Procedures for shareholders to put enquires to the
Board

Shareholders must prove to the Board that they really own the equity
interests of the Company (e.g. by providing shareholding documents
etc.). The Company suggests shareholders should submit their
enquiries in writing (including by email, facsimile and mail) and provide
sufficient contact details so that the Company can process their
enquiries in a proper and timely manner.

Shareholders may contact the Company via the following means:

Address: 6/F, Liven House, 63 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: barry.cheung@waichi.com

Tel No.: (852) 3760 2805

Fax No.: (852) 2341 8144
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate
governance function as set out below:

e  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

e to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

e to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Constitutional documents

Rights of the shareholders are also provided under the articles
of association of the Company. The articles of association of the
Company which was adopted on 27 October 2014 was drafted in line
with provisions of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance which came
into effect on 3 March 2014, the Listing Rules and current corporate
practices. There was no change in the articles of association of the
Company in FY 2019. An up-to-date consolidated version of the
articles of association of the Company is available on the Company’s
website and the HKEX’s website.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

OVERVIEW

Over the years, Wai Chi Holdings has committed to adhere
to the philosophy of environment-friendly management and
concern for the needs of the staff, enhance the product
quality and perform social responsibilities. This environmental,
social and governance report will give an overview of each
of the Group members in Hong Kong, Shenzhen, Huizhou
and Yichang for the year ended 31 December 2019 through
various aspects including environmental management, working
environment, supply chain management, product responsibility
and community engagement.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND
RESPONSIBILITIES

a. Qualifications for environmental management

Our Group formulated effective Environmental Management
System and Internal Compliance Manual in order to
identify and comply with the laws and regulations on
environmental protection in countries and regions where
the Group operates its business. The production materials
and products also satisfy the environmental protection
requirements and standards in all the regions where the
suppliers and customers are located. The use of the
Group’s vehicles consumption on water and electricity
is under our strict control. We also reduce the usage
of hazardous chemicals and other materials that are
harmful to the environment. Owing to our manufacturing
green products for customers, we are rewarded the title
of Excellent Supplier in Environmental Protection by our
customers.

We engage independent external evaluation institutions
regularly to conduct professional assessment, such as
sewage inspection, and have obtained internationally-
recognised environmental certifications such as ISO
14001:2004 Environmental Management System
certification and IECQ QC 08000:2005 Hazardous
Substance Process Management certification.
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND
RESPONSIBILITIES (continued)

62

b.

Energy-saving and emission reduction

The Group strictly monitors each step in production, and
by designing and improving the production process, we
endeavor to minimize and control the amount of gummed
paper, tapes and other packaging materials we use. We
have been enhancing the energy and resources efficiency
of the office, including posting slogans of energy-saving
and emission reduction in each plant. Staffs are required
to switch off all the electrical appliances, before they leave,
with regular reminders and spot checks so that our staff are
highly aware of the environmental protection. We regularly
analyze the consumption of gummed paper and copy
paper, promote double-sided printing, strive for paperless
office. For green commuting, our staff are encouraged to
take public transports in daily commute.

Development and application of
environmental-friendly products

Environmental protection is the mission of the Group. We
are courageous in broadening our scope and innovating
energy-saving products, for instance, energy-saving lighting
product projects in relation to street lights and sizable
public facilities of the government. We proactively advocate
to replace traditional light bullbs with LED lights in order to
increase the lifetime of lamp and save energy significantly.
In t he long term, the aforementioned project is beneficial
in cost saving, energy efficiency and reduction in carbon
emission. The Group has more than 400,000 shipments of
energy-saving lighting products in 2019 (2018: more than
300,000).
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3. WORKING ENVIRONMENT AND EMPLOYEE
DEVELOPMENT

a.

Human capital and quality training

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has a total of 2,425
employees, the majority of which are between 20 and
40 years old. The Group strictly complies with relevant
laws and regulations to prevent child labour and forced
labour. The Group encourages its employees to improve
their motivation, concentration and innovation. During the
year, we held over 100 training seminars on various topics
for different positions with over 5,000 participants and
successfully improved the professionalism and proficiency
of our employees in every aspect. Training hours in 2019
were over 1,500 (2018: over 1,200). The Group endeavors
to attract and cultivate highly skilled technical personnel
with various benefits and packages. Both Shenzhen Wai
Chi and Huizhou Wai Chi Electronics Company Limited
have been accredited by local governments as high-tech
enterprises and enjoyed corresponding tax concessions.

The Group adopts a monthly performance appraisal system
to evaluate employees’ performance with scientific and
comprehensive indicators, the results of which are used
as important references for employees’ salary adjustment,
promotion and annual bonus rating. We encourage
employees to explore their own strengths. Without being
subject to their positions and profession, we respect
employees’ personal career planning, and support them to
trying and take up challenges in different areas. The Group
open up horizontal and vertical career paths, and always
put the talented and competent people as the first priority.
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3. WORKING ENVIRONMENT AND EMPLOYEE
DEVELOPMENT (continued)
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b.

Workplace safety

The Group is committed to providing employees a safe
and healthy working environment, abiding by the Labor
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Rights and Interests
of Workers, and other applicable laws and regulations.
The Group conducts strict and effective management with
respect to personnel, machinery, objects and operating
methods in the production sites, carries out Safety Month
activities on a regular basis and announces the inspection
and evaluation results to all employees.

All new employees will be given a Staff Manual to ensure
that they are informed in a timely manner of the Company’s
general information, regulations and corporate culture
etc. We regularly review and update the contents of the
Staff Manual to keep up with the Company’s strategy and
development plan, and announce such contents timely
on the Group’s internal websites immediately after any
changes are made. In addition to making timely payments
for the pension and insurance on a pro-rata basis as
required by law, the Group also regularly purchases
commercial accident insurance for its employees. There
were no illnesses and casualties caused by work or other
material accidents and property loss incidents during the
year.

Care for our employees

Each subsidiary of the Group sets up a labor union. Funds
are appropriated to such unions on a regular basis for
labor union activities, collection and resolution of staff’'s
suggestions and requests in order to protect interests
of individual employees. Collective birthday celebration
activities are organised regularly for the employees,
featuring delicious meals, entertainment programs and
birthday presents. A special fund for caring donations is
set up by the Group and accrued monthly to help staff in
need, making them feel cared for and developing a sense
of belonging.
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4. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

a.

Supplier relationships

We maintain good communication and stable cooperation
with the suppliers so as to ensure a highly-efficient supply
chain operation. The quality, timeliness and reliability of the
products are guaranteed by an independent raw material
quality inspection department, along with our agreement
with suppliers regarding schedule delivery and warranty.

ERP system

All the information of the suppliers are maintained in the
ERP system. A supplier assessment mechanism is in place
to perform a strict selection on the suppliers in respect
of qualification, material quality, intellectual property
qualification and price in order to ensure the suppliers meet
the production standards in terms of raw material quality,
price and production capacity.

Price management mechanism

A reasonable and effective price management mechanism
with a quotation team to review material prices is set up,
in which price comparison and monitoring for each kind
of materials is conducted for a timely reminder and a
periodic summary, so as to make the procurement fair and
transparent and to maintain healthy competition.

5. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

a.

Qualification certificates

We have been granted several qualification certificates,
including 1ISO 9001:2008, ISO 14001:2004 of Quality and
Environment Management System Certificates, and 1ISO/
TS 16949:2009 of Quality Control System Certificates. By
stringent and careful implementation of the management
and control systems, the Group maintains an excellent
standard in the industry for the quality and reliability of its
product.
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5. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (continued)
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b. Product R&D

In response to the rapid technological advancement in the
LED backlight and LED lighting industries, the Group has
been maintaining strong R&D capabilities, upgrading the
skills required in the production processes and actively
improving the production technologies. The Group’s R&D
centre has core competitiveness in the industry, and its
professional and dedicated R&D team has developed on its
own more than 1,000 LED backlight and lighting products,
which have obtained 151 (2018: 93) patents in China and
Hong Kong. Some products have been recognised by
the Science, Industry, Trade and Information Technology
Commission of Shenzhen Municipality as “Independent and
Creative Products of Shenzhen”.

Quality control

The Group has fully adopted quality management system,
and every employee involved is responsible for the product
quality. We strive to achieve a flawless and smooth
procedure from understanding customers’ needs to
providing after-sales services. The Group has purchased
a series of advanced production and testing equipment
with professional technical engineers, committing to
improving production technology and enhancing output
efficiency and product passing rate. There are strict quality
control processes from procurement, design, production
to storage. Such processes include incoming materials
management, sample reliability testing, quality inspection
during the process, ultimate quality control and quality
assessment experiment for the final products.

Through the quality assessment experiment, the yield rate
was improved and the customer return rate was reduced.
In 2019, the customer return rate decreased by more than
7% from previous year.
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5. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

d.

After-sales service and information
maintenance

We undertake the responsibility for each product and
provide customers with warranty and replacement services.
After the expiry of warranty period, we can continue
to provide maintenance services and only charge for
necessary costs. We have been well-received for providing
excellent products and services to our customers. There
are no substantial complaints, returns or reworks arising
from product quality problems during the year.

We strive to protect customer information. All customer
information is maintained in ERP system. Different
management and operation permission are assigned to
each process and position. The system information is
updated in a timely manner, with layered audit and offsite
backup to ensure the information of every customer can be
properly kept and maintained.

6. ANTI-CORRUPTION

a.

Inspection mechanism

The Group pursues business ethics and is committed
to operation with integrity. Any form of bribery, fraud,
extortion, corruption and money laundering is strictly
prohibited. The Group has established an inspection
mechanism to regularly scrutinise the implementation of
regulations in each department, and is devoted to reducing
adverse effects on the day-to-day business activities
caused by improper operation and supervision.

Internal audit

The Group has established an internal audit department
which is directly accountable to the Independent Audit
Committee and monitors and improves all procedures of
each member company in the Group, to keep the operation
system and procedures of the Company consistent with
its operational development and changes. The Group has
established a reporting and complaint mechanism and
opened internal and external channels for whistle-blowing
in order to maintain fairness, equity and high standards of
the operational mechanism.
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

We are committed to social responsibility and the contributions
to environmental protection through the development of new
LED energy-saving products. We actively participated in the
government’s street lamps replacement project and popularized
the positive effects on saving resources by replacing the
traditional lamps with LED lamps.

As a technology-oriented corporation, we care about
advancement in modern science and technologies as much
as traditional cultural heritage. In July 2019, we participated in
a cantonese opera charity show and amenities giveaways for
elderlies in Hong Kong. Other than sponsoring HK$10,000 and
we also sent staff volunteers for onsite support.

SUMMARY

The Group adheres to the corporate culture of “bring light into
life”, and has been persistent in making contribution to the
development of global lighting industry with superb technology,
reasonable prices and quality services. We strive for excellence
and continuous innovation, aim to create more environmentally
friendly products, commit to the practice of environmental
protection, promote energy conservation and bring about
benefits to customers, shareholders, employees and the whole
society.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., Lee Garden One

33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

feikPha

Shineﬂ)inﬁ

TO THE MEMBERS OF WAI CHI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wai Chi
Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
76 to 186, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B MRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of inventories

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on page 105.

The key audit matter
AREZSEE

FRRELSZE

MR B EEE U RPN RARM
HABBRAMBRROBR TIFPRAE
ENFH RS FERRMBELEGRAY

BREIMUTEKEEERNER TRIE -
MBEMETREZFEFRERBILER

FRiEE
m/%ﬁéW%ﬁ%W&m&%m&”ﬂ+
B

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMREBELRNARERRER

As at 31 December 2019, the Group maintained
inventories of HK$211,584,000.

We have identified the valuation of inventories as a
key audit matter because of their significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the involvement
of significant management judgement and estimation in
identifying inventories with net realisable values that are
lower than their carrying values, and obsolescence, with
reference to the selling prices and condition of inventories.

R2019F 12 A31H - E5BEFERFE4211,584,000
BT °
AR GFEEMEYHGAUBREREFEE  REEFEN

EEMMABAN TR FEEREREENTFERRE
ERE - FREBREEEHE S AE - BAIE S EER
RRARERSFE-
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Our audit procedures were designed to assess management
estimations and judgements on the assessment of net
realisable value of inventories and identification of obsolete
items based on their subsequent usage and selling prices
subsequent to the end of the reporting period and current
market conditions.

We have assessed the net realisable value and utilisation of
inventories subsequent to the end of the reporting period
and discussed with the management in respect of the
adequacy of the allowance made by the management based
on subsequent usage and sales, ageing analysis and current
market conditions. We have challenged the assumptions and
critical judgements used by the management by assessing the
reliability of the management’s past estimates.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of trade receivables

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 106 to 113.

The key audit matter
AREZSEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB ERE

FAREZEE ()
& U B R 1 B

FEL2MEAMERERME19REI106E113
BEHE -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMREBLRNARERREE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had trade receivables
of HK$454,279,000, representing 35% of the Group’s total
current assets.

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables is based on
lifetime expected credit losses model, which is estimated
by taking into account the credit loss experience and
forward-looking information including both current and
forecast general economic conditions.

We have identified valuation of trade receivables as a key
audit matter because the impairment assessment of trade
receivables involved a significant degree of management
estimation and may be subject to management bias.

MN2019F12A831H EEENEKREZRA
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Qur audit procedures were designed to assess the
assumptions and judgements of the Group’s expected credit
losses model on impairment assessment of trade receivables.

We have assessed the reasonableness of management’s
estimates for impairment allowance by examining the
information used by management to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy of the historical default data and
evaluating whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic conditions and forward-
looking information.

We have also inspected cash received from debtors
subsequent to the end of the reporting period relating to trade
receivables balance as at 31 December 2019 on a sample
basis.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B MRS

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B MRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

74

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Chui Yiu Cheong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chui Yiu Cheong

Practising Certificate Number: PO7219

Hong Kong
26 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FelRaX

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

2019 2018
2019 20184
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Ff 5% FET FET

Revenue BxE 7 2,214,974 2,249,786
Cost of sales $HE A (1,986,007) (2,002,523
Gross profit EF 228,967 247 263
Other income H Ao A 7 21,148 32,232
Selling and distribution expenses HE RO HMAX (25,553) (22,487)
Administrative expenses THR X (101,597) (91,034)
Other gains and losses Hiplyzs M &5 18 (2,303) (12,515)
Research and development expenses e = (50,812) (75,719)
Finance costs B TS AR 9 (29,681) (28,215)
Profit before tax R i A0 A 40,169 49,525
Income tax expense FrBHiAx 10 (3,021) (4,418)
Profit for the year FERE 11 37,148 45107

HK$ HK$

BT BT
Earnings per share sRETR

Basic and diluted ERREE 14 0.17 0.21
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FeiRaRAMZEmia®

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
Ti&xT FHET
Profit for the year FEFE 37,148 45,107
Other comprehensive expense that may be HETREHFSEZESN
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss HittZ2HEBAX
Exchange differences arising on translation MEGINETSELERIE R E58
of foreign operations (20,980) (31,594)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZEWALE 16,168 13,513
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MBI

As at 31 December 2019 7201912 831 H

2019 2018
2019 20184
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Ff 5% Ti&xT FET
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BE REE 15 245,520 245,008
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 50,776 -
Prepaid lease payments FENHEENIE 17 - 35,062
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, BEME - BEMEE
plant and equipment BEftiEs 5,582 -
Deferred taxation IEERIE 27 8,455 8,142
Deposits with bank RITHFR 22 - 79,891
310,333 368,103
Current assets mEEE
Inventories 5E 18 211,584 188,406
Prepaid lease payments A HERE 17 - 874
Trade receivables FE U BR 3K 19 454,279 409,549
Bills receivables JEWR 15 19 92,069 102,036
Prepayments, deposits and other T FRIE - Bz%&
receivables H A i kT 20 262,668 191,614
Financial assets at fair value through ?ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%ﬂ‘]\?ﬁéz
profit or loss TREE 21 - 152,967
Pledged bank deposits BRI R 22 176,963 129,785
Bank balances and cash RITEHR AR S 22 101,816 24,213
1,299,379 1,199,444
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables FERTER R 23 241,923 184,162
Bills payables R RE 23 206,147 252,698
Other payables and accruals HEEMFELRTERER 23 55,812 44,547
Contract liabilities BRERE 24 8,518 80,969
Bank and other borrowings BR1T M EAb A 25 288,171 313,714
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 4,539 -
Obligations under finance leases RIEHEGEE
— due within one year —R—FRNEIH 26 - 916
Income tax payables FERTATIS TR 9,294 10,042
904,404 887,048
Net current assets MENEEFE 394,975 312,396
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MEKAR

As at 31 December 2019 7201912831 H

2019 2018
2019 20184
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Ff 5% Ti&xT FET
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRHERE 705,308 680,499
Non-current liabilities EREAE
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 16 10,343 -
Obligations under finance leases REHEFEE
— due more than one year —RER—FBEH 26 - 1,183
Corporate bond NEESH 28 1,856 1,816
Government grants T 4 B 29 17,420 17,947
Deferred taxation PRAE R IE 27 - 32
29,619 20,978
Net assets BERE 675,689 659,521
Capital and reserves BARKG#E
Share capital A& A< 30 2,168 2,168
Reserves i 673,521 657,353
Total equity Mg 675,689 659,521
The consolidated financial statements on pages 76 to 186 were FT76E 186 EMERA M B &K E 12020
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 FIAHKESTGHE R ENE
March 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: W AR KRES
Mr. Yiu Chi To Mr. Chen Chung Po
kB & PREEFE AL
Director Director
EZE EZE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GeEQEDE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019%F12 A31H It F/E

Share Share Statutory  Translation Merger Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
BA  BRODEE  EERE EifE  AHEE  REAE fEt

HK§'000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$O00  HK§000  HKS000  HKS'000
T T T T T ThL T

(Note a) (Note b)
(Mi3ta) (MizED)
At 1 January 2018 2018 E1 A1 H 2,168 331,977 49,501 225 34,561 227,576 646,008
Profit for the year FEFE - - - - - 45,107 45,107
Other comprehensive expense  FEH M2 EF %
for the year
-exchange differences arising  — B E BN EKES
on translation of foreign MEREE
operations - - - (31,594) - - (31,594)
Total comprehensive (expense) & 2 (FI%) WA
income for the year @ - - - (31,594) - 45107 13513
Transfer g - - 7270 - - (7,270) -
At 31 December 2018 12018412 A31H 2,168 331,977 56,771 (31,369) 34,561 265,413 659,521
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeEcEBE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & 22019412 A31H I FE

Share Share Statutory  Translation Merger Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RE  RGEE  EERE Eiifits  AHRE REFE Bt
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Ti#L Ti#n Ti#n Ti#n Tign T Tign
(Note a) (Note b)
(Mzta) (MzEb)
At 1 January 2019 7201951 A1 6 2,168 331,977 56,771 (31,369) 34,561 265,413 659,521
Profit for the year FEFE - - - - - 37,148 37,148
Other comprehensive expense  EEH 12 AR
for the year
- exchange differences arising  — RSN EBEE
on translation of foreign MERZE
operations - - - (20,980) - - (20,980)
Total comprehensive (expense) B2 (Fix) WA
income for the year kS - - - (20,980) - 37,148 16,168
Transfer 8% - - 4,818 - - (4818) -
At 31 December 2019 2019512 A31H 2,168 331,977 61,589 (52,349) 34,561 297,743 675,689

Notes: MIEE -

(@  As stipulated by regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), @ HEAREME(HBE]DEZEBEARRRP
the Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC are required Rz NEENHB AR BEREBE@EBER
to appropriate 10% of their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior year losses) FMOEREFEBARBEMNE (REHEBTEE
as determined in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations in BBE)10% BEATCHE EERHBEHERR
the PRC, to statutory reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the B AR sEMEA50% » EREE I FHEHEEND IR
registered capital of the relevant subsidiaries. The transfer to this reserve B FHEFER ARIEL -
must be made before distribution of a dividend to equity owners.

(o)  Merger reserve represented the difference between the nominal value of the b) EAHFEEEBEEEERZAHAVENHRNBEARNE

issued capital of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation
over the consideration paid for acquiring these subsidiaries.

In 2013, as part of the pre-listing reorganisation, the Company issued 135
ordinary shares of HK$1,000,000 each which, through its subsidiaries, were
used to subscribe for new shares issued and allotted by Wai Chi Group
(HK) Limited and became the holding company of the Group. The difference
between the proceeds from the issuance of shares and the then share capital
and capital reserve subscribed was recognised in the merger reserve.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
Ti&xT FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Profit before tax R 754 AT A P 40,169 49,525
Adjustments for: AT &I -
Finance costs BF TR 7N 29,681 28,215
Interest income B A (8,241) (10,581)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y- BELEBITE 43,207 41,863
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRAEEENE 2,593 -
Government grants U B (8,102) (19,318)
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments TET A E SR IE 5 - 912
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BB REE ()
equipment, net [=Ei=be= (23) 211
Loss on write-off of property, plant and equipment #5473 - ME MR ER 286 98
Impairment loss (reversal of impairment loss) T & 5 AR 3k B HL At JE W 1B
recognised in respect of trade and other TR EEE (B ERE
receivables, net E518) F58 3,123 (1,840)
(Reversal of) provision of inventories, net (BR)BEFEFE (820) 14,355
Operating cash flows before movements in BEESEEAN
working capital REFSRE 101,873 103,440
Increase in inventories FEIG M (26,466) (4,306)
Increase in trade receivables JE R BR XA A0 (60,767) (33,048)
Decrease (increase) in bills receivables JiE U = AR (35 0) 7,869 (79,238)
(Increase) decrease in prepayments, deposits and ~ FEfT 78 ~ & K& H i fE UK
other receivables A () R (76,752) 199,553
Increase (decrease) in trade payables FEAS BR ZRIE 00 CRi ) 62,195 (2,593)
Increase (decrease) in bills payables FERT =g O 4) 49,510 (61,807)
Decrease in contract liabilities EHEERD (71,947) (123,398)
Increase in other payables and accruals Hab e pIa R TEIR B A 11,638 5,140
Cash (used in) generated from operations BE(FFA)MELERS (2,847) 3,743
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BT B FEAER (4,090) (5,517)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES &E&Z;EEFFABRLER (6,937) (1,774)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HeEReRE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

2018
20184
HK$’'000
FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Placements of pledged bank deposits GFABBHRRITFEX (571,144) (36,881)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment BEVE BEERE (54,898) (61,237)
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, WEEmE  BEMEEEN
plant and equipment Be (5,677) -
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through BERAAMBESABREZ
profit or loss TRIEE - (158,751)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RMEEHRITFX 520,458 45,288
Proceeds from disposal of financial asset HEZAAER ABZE
at fair value through profit or loss ZEMEEMSHRIE 152,182 23,689
Decrease in deposits with bank RITFFOR D 79,481 101,862
Interest received B UF & 8,241 10,581
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and LEDE - BERXRE
equipment Fr8 A 3,190 37
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING REFTEFESE (FFA)
ACTIVITIES ReBsE 131,833 (65,412)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
New bank and other borrowings raised FTIGIRTT R B M AR 631,445 352,958
Government grants received B AT #E B 7,965 6,502
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EEIRIT R EAMER (652,069) (349,288)
Interest paid BAFIE (29,641) (28,175)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHERE
(2018: obligations under finance leases) (20184 : REEHEEIE) (3,437) (1,546)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES R E;ZEFTARLEE (45,737) (19,549)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReaRREEEWIEMCED)
CASH EQUIVALENTS B 79,159 (86,735)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS M1A1ENBRERREEEY
AT 1 JANUARY 24,213 111,722
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREFFHNTE (1,556) (774)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATTHEEND ®W12A31B&REBHNRER
OF 31 DECEMBER, REPRESENTED ReSEY  aR\TER
BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH RE£ 101,816 24,213
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84

GENERAL

Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) is a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands on 16 August 2013 and its shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 18 November 2014. Its ultimate
controlling party is Mr. Yiu Chi To. The address of the registered
office of the Company is Offshore Incorporations (Cayman)
Limited, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and the principal place of
business of the Company is 6th Floor, Liven House, 63 King Yip
Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 38.

The functional currency of the Company and the subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong are Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) while
that of the subsidiaries established in the PRC are Renminbi
(“RMB”). For the purpose of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) adopted HK$
as its presentation currency.

—iR&H
BEEERBER AR (A28 H—M
R2013F8A16AREHREHER
AEAERENESFMA YN ERE2E
fRAa - mHEBRMKR2014F11 A18
AEEABEXGMAERA A ([BR
FRl) EtR £ - E&REERA BKkE
BhE-ARaladfMifEENI R
Offshore Incorporations (Cayman) Limited,
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands * AR Al F ELEME BEE
NEEEIE T3 KE6E -

ARREBRFREER KK EAT
GELER 2 RNOEEE

ARRRRREBZTMAZAOME QA
heEgEE BT ((BX))  MRFEK
YHHBARMNINEEESARE (A
R¥)) M2 HAMBHREME A
REREMBLAR (TXAaE[A%EE])
RNBTREZINEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M HRIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time, the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

The adoption of HKFRS 16 resulted in the changes in
the Group’s accounting policies and adjustments to the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements
as summarised below. The application of other new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial performance and position for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

2019 Annual Report | £ &

FE R #r 5] R AR IS 5] & 7B B I 3R
SR ((EFENFHREEA])

AFEE AEEEXERABUATHEESR
AR nE ((HEBEFEMAE]) BmaH
R R BB RE LR -

EEUKREEN  HE

£16%

55 (BRHBHRE MEREEZTRTEM
REZEE)-

REF 235

EEUKREEN  BAREBEZENTE
FO% (BFTK) BH
BEQERE10%  HEE  BRREE

CHES)

EEQHENS 8 RBELARAELEZ
({B7T) g

BB BREEL 2015 FEE 2017 ERE 2
({BFTA) ERMBREENFE

g

RAB B BRELEANFE16REHAE
BH St BEREEH NN ERA P TERRE
RO TRFABE N TXHA - RAFE
FEREMIR] RGBT BB HREE
A ASEER R BEFEZMBHRA
B R EA G E M ERRAME 2
BREENTEERTE -

85
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

86

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

2.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements
with respect to lease accounting. It introduces significant
changes to the lessee accounting by removing the
distinction between operating lease and finance lease and
requiring the recognition of right-of-use asset and a lease
liability for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low value assets. In contrast to lessee accounting,
the requirements for lessor accounting have remained
largely unchanged. Details of these new accounting policies
are described in Note 3. The Group has applied HKFRS
16 Leases retrospectively with the cumulative effect of
initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance
of equity, where appropriate, at 1 January 2019, and has
not restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting period
as permitted under the specific transitional provisions in
the standard. Accordingly, certain comparative information
may not be comparable as comparative information was
prepared under HKAS 17 Leases.

On transition to HKFRS 16, the Group elected to apply the
practical expedient to account for the assessment of which
arrangements are, or contain, leases. It applied HKFRS 16
only to contracts that were previously identified as leases.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC)-4 were not reassessed. Therefore, the
definition of a lease under HKFRS 16 has been applied only
to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 January
2019.

The major impacts of the adoption of HKFRS 16 on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements are described
below.

2.

3

- =3
=

(
2
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BEFEZHEERABEZTIE - F
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S AEBEEENEATEYER
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SR EEAN2019F1 A1EHY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M5 RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #H Z=2019F12A31HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

2.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases
(continued)

The Group as lessee

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease
liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of
HKAS 17 Leases (except for lease of low value assets
and lease with remaining lease term of twelve months or
less). These liabilities were measured at the present value
of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019.
The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
applied to the lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 was 4.5%.

The Group recognises right-of-use assets and measures
them at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by
the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments.

The following table summarises the impact of transition
to HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019. Line items that were not
affected by the adjustments have not been included.

2. &

R#ME] REISET BB ]|

SRA([EFRMBFHREERD

(
2

&
1

=

RABBUBREERF 16
RHEENTE ()

AEBEREBA

AFEAEBHBMEERFE 165 -
BREEEEEMAERGTHEA
TZEASKUTHREEN  RNEH
MR RBEREESFEREI7TR
HENRANRAICLEHE MAEE
BREEEE - ZZBENFRHE
BN REEIZ2019F1 A1 A A
ABEEFMEFENBEETZ -
2019F1 A1HAEE A EHE A /X
AL B EFRFIE A 4.5% °

AEEERAEAEEELASZNE
EEENSBETUFE  WREM
BNSEAEENRERRETRE -

TRBAR2019F1A1BEBEBESR
AU REENEI6HATE -
WEBERIFABRTZENER -

Carrying amount

previously Carrying

reported at Impact on amount as

31 December adoption of restated at

2018 HKFRS 16 1 January 2019

SRI 2018 5F RNEBEE R2019%

12831 HEHK REER  1B1BEET

ZIREE  F16RANE ZIREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET THT TERT

Property, plant and equipment ~ ¥1% » BB &R © 245,008 (2,185) 242,823
Right-of-use assets FREEE (a),(b).(c) - 38,606 38,606
Prepaid lease payments BAEERE (b) 35,936 (35,936) -
Obligations under finance leases BB EEE © 2,099 (2,099) -
Lease liabilities MEBE @),(0) - 2,584 2,584

87

2019 Annual Report | £



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

88

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

2.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases

(continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Notes:

(@ As at 1 January 2019, right-of-use assets were measured
at an amount equal to the lease liabilities of approximately
HK$485,000.

(b)  Prepaid lease payments of approximately HK$35,936,000 which
represent the upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC
as at 31 December 2018 were reclassified to right-of-use assets.

(c)  The obligations under finance leases of HK$2,099,000 as at 31
December 2018 are now included within lease liabilities under
HKFRS 16. The carrying amount of the related assets under
finance leases amounting to HK$2,185,000 is reclassified to
right-of-use assets.

In the consolidated statement of cash flow, the Group as
a lessee is required to split rentals paid under capitalised
leases into their capital element and interest element.
These elements are classified as financing cash outflows,
similar to how leases previously classified as finance leases
under HKAS 17 were treated, rather than as operating cash
outflows, as was the case for operating leases under HKAS
17. The total cash flows are unaffected.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. &

fE R TRl R BRIERT BB I I3k
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HER([EBMEHREEL ]
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued) (48)
2.1 Impacts on adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases 21 RpEBUIREERZE 16

RHEE
AEBERAEBA (8)

MR2018F 12 A31 B (BEHXER
BHIRT 2 B HY) (F A E BN A =X
BE IR O 4% 44 FH & A B 2019 4F 1
A1EERANEEBBE - BHANESE

VR E (R)

(continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Differences between operating lease commitments as at
31 December 2018, the date immediately preceding the
date of initial application, discounted using the incremental

borrowing rate, and the lease liabilities recognised as at 1

January 2019 are as follows: UM
HK$’000
FHET
Operating lease commitment disclosed as at 20184512 A31 HiEE M
31 December 2018 4 T B AR 2,882
Less: Short-term leases and other leases with W EHAEE R T E
remaining lease term ended on or before R2019F 12 A31 Bl
31 December 2019 ZHIERNEMEE (2,353)
529
Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at £/ 201941 A1 B E
1 January 2019 BRFIZERELIR 485
Add: Finance lease liabilities recognised under hn: 2018412 A31 HIREEE
HKAS 17 as at 31 December 2018 ST EAF17THRERNRBE
HEBE 2,099
Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019 M2019F1 A1 HERNEERE 2,584
Analysed as DA
Current portion mENE 1,031
Non-current portion ERBE D 1,553
2,584
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

90

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

2.2 Practical expedients applied

On the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group
has used the following practical expedients permitted by
the standard:

not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains
a lease at the date of initial application. Instead, for
contracts entered into before the transition date
the Group relied on its assessment made applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-4 to determine whether an
arrangement contains a lease,

the accounting for operating leases with a remaining
lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 January
2019 as short-term leases, and

the exclusion of initial direct costs for the
measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of
initial application.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and interpretation that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business*
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material’
HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

39 and HKFRS 7

Conceptual Framework for Revised Conceptual Framework

1

Financial Reporting 2018 for Financial Reporting'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which

the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments,
which are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period.

Historical cost is generally based on fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants in the principal (or most advantageous)
market at the measurement date under current market
conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (jii) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s returns.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control of the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to
revenue recognition:

e  Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
e  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
e  Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e  Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e  Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies
a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to customers.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

A performance obligation represents a good (or a bundle of
goods) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods that are
substantially same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

e The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e The Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created and
enhanced; or

e The Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented.

The Group recognised revenue from the sales of goods including
(i) Light-Emitting Diode (“LED”) backlight; (i) LED lighting; and (iii)
high-tech electronic components and products.

Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered to location specified by the customers and accepted
by the customers, which is the point of time the customer
has the ability to direct the use of the products and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits of the products.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasing

Accounting policy applicable on or after 1 January
2019

Definition of a lease

Under HKFR 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease,
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all
lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-
term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the
Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise fixed lease payments (including in-substance
fixed payments).

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease payments made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasing (continued)

Accounting policy applicable on or after 1 January
2019 (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using revised discount rate.

° a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments and using a revised discount rate.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. They are
depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful
life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that
the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the
underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement
date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-
use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment
loss as described in the “impairment losses on tangible assets”
policy.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasing (continued)

Sales and leaseback transactions

The Group acts as a seller-lessee

The Group applies the requirement of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sale and leaseback transaction constitute a sale by
the Group as a seller-lessee. For a transfer that does not satisfy
the requirements as a sale, the Group accounts for the transfer
proceeds as other borrowings within the scope of HKFRS 9.

Accounting policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease
obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
expenses are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case
they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s policy on
borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below).

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as prepaid lease payment in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and
building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as
a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and
equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred
income in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to stage-managed retirement benefit schemes and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits
are measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on the tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of the
initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes other than construction in progress
as described below are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
buildings

For payments of ownership interest of properties which includes
both leasehold land and building elements, the entire property is
presented as property, plant and equipment of the Group when
the payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold
land and building elements.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified
to the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 16, assets held under finance
leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on
the same basis as owned assets. However, when there is no
reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end
of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash
as defined above.

Investment in a subsidiary

Investment in a subsidiary is stated in the statement of financial
position of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment
loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. The classification
of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial
asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired
on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) excluding expected credit losses (“ECL”), through
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt
instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised
cost. For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in
the “Other income” line item (Note 7).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FV/TPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI") are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of
a designated hedging relationship.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised costs. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-months ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

2019 Annual Report | £ &

FEEF R (])

BT A ()
cRMEE (8)

1= B /R BRI
HEeRTANEERREE B VIHHE
RBUARBZIB NG - AEE L BN RE
BT AZELEENNRRERIS
ERAMEMTAZREEONRER - F
AR - NEEEEAEA{FERK
BRNEEREUEER BEHANEDT
VERASBNEANESHBELR R
RIRE &KL -

ARTE  FHEEEERE THAERR
TR I £ THIER

TRTEMING (WB) LARIEE
ARERKENBREEE

o EXH MBALEMRRNNRIFLIE
AN EHEREEREKART
HEBEERRE AR TR

e EBRAKEEENERNTEHEE
=1t

s FA-—EBANEMBERMTIANEE
Rk E BN

. EBHAMEE EEARINREE
BT R EA S BB TS R
575 ATB1T R 515 B 08 H AR
T o

109



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if () the financial instrument
has a low risk of default, (i) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term,
and (i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating
of ‘performing’. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there are no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor;
or

° information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
e abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

° it is becoming probable that the debtor will undergo
bankruptcy or other financial restructuring; or

e the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of
the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. As for
the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination, (i) held-for-trading, or
(i) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed,
is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generation units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s leasing
transactions, net realisable value of inventories and value in use
of property, plant and equipment for the purpose of impairment
assessment, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value measurements
into three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as

follows:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occurs between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.

116

FEEF R (])

\

DRREFTE

R EAER (AEEMNHERS -7

B IR @ﬁ&%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ%%% &

}%& SHEEERIN)  AEBESEEM
B2HEERTENHEENABETER

FrEEMEENXEERFE -

HEISMEEANER  AEEMS
DMEEEENRS MREREMER
Bl HETE—UEmk&EAR
FREENTIS2EEMGEES °

REBAANMBETE  BRIOEER
BERRBEBERANAEARE REME
ERElZRE RSOV ¢ MEL%@E
AAABEm AR - ABME A%
Bz ABEBREB QA EFTES KN
=R

£—H& - BHEREELRERE
BmISHNmISHE (K

F-H - NHAIREBEKRE
& mrAEZRKERE
RN EBABE  F
R EMTA R -

E=4 - NHARERE
2. MmAABEEN&RE
B A\2E  (FREE
BAMTHOEBE -

RBERR  RARAREEHFENE
ERRE AEERGESENARE
AR UEEAEAAEEAEBLSIR -

Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited | {2&ZERAR L T



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgement, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and
expenses reported and disclosures made in the consolidated
financial statements. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognhised and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

Principal versus agent consideration

The Group engages in trading of high-tech electronic
components and products. The Group reassessed whether the
Group should continue to recognise revenue on gross basis
based on the requirements in HKFRS 15. The Group concluded
that the Group acts as the principal for such transactions as
it controls the specified good before it is transferred to the
customer after taking into consideration indicators such as that
the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to
provide the goods. The Group has inventory risk and discretion
in establishing selling prices of the goods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated allowance for inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price for
inventories, less all the estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sales. The management reviews
the inventory ageing listing on a periodic basis for those aged
inventories. This involves comparison of carrying value of the
aged inventory items with the respective net realisable value.
The purpose is to ascertain whether allowance is required
to be made in the consolidated financial statements for any
obsolete and slow moving items. Although the Group carried
periodic review on the net realisable value of inventory, the
actual realisable value of inventory is not known until the
sale was concluded. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying
amount of inventories of the Group was HK$211,584,000
(2018: HK$188,406,000) (net of impairment provision of
HK$80,341,000 (2018: HK$82,956,000)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

The impairment of trade receivables are based on assumptions
about ECL. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, bases on the number of days that an individual
receivable is outstanding as well as the Group’s historical
experience and forward-looking information at the end of the
reporting period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates
could materially affect the result of the assessment and it may
be necessary to make additional impairment charge to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. As at 31 December
2019, the carrying amount of trade receivables of the Group
was HK$454,279,000 (2018: HK$409,549,000) (net of
impairment loss of trade receivables of HK$30,260,000 (2018:
HK$29,655,000)).

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives. The determination
of the useful lives involves management’s estimation. The
Group assesses annually the useful lives of the property, plant
and equipment and if the expectation differs from the original
estimate, such a difference may impact the depreciation in the
year and future period. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying
values of property, plant and equipment of the Group were
HK$245,520,000 (2018: HK$245,008,000), net of accumulated
depreciation of HK$326,522,000 (2018: HK$293,567,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment

The Group determines whether the property, plant and
equipment are impaired whenever there is indication of
impairment presented. The impairment loss for property, plant
and equipment are recognised for the amounts by which
the carrying amounts exceed their recoverable amounts,
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. The
recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment have
been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations require the use of judgements and estimates such
as future revenue and discount rates. As at 31 December
2019, the carrying values of property, plant and equipment of
the Group were HK$245,520,000 (2018: HK$245,008,000),
net of accumulated impairment loss of HK$12,704,000 (2018:
HK$12,988,000).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for certain deductible
temporary differences. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying values
of deferred tax assets of the Group were HK$8,455,000 (2018:
HK$8,142,000), further details of which are disclosed in Note
27.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consist of net debt (which
includes bank and other borrowings, corporate bond, net of
pledged bank deposits, deposits with bank and bank balances
and cash) and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, issuance of new
shares as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of
borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

6. EMTAH

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL
— Financial assets mandatory measured at
FVTPL
Amortised cost (including bank balances
and cash

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost

B TEANER
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHET
EWMEE
BAREABRZEMEE
—BHIIE A RET ABR
ArEZEmEE - 152,967
B AR
(BIERITEREES) 866,570 778,330
866,570 931,297
sRas
B IE A A 877,927 771,705

Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include unlisted funds
investments, trade receivables, bills receivables, deposits
and other receivables, pledged bank deposits, deposits with
bank, bank balances and cash, trade payables, bills payables,
other payables and accruals, bank and other borrowings and
corporate bond. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these

B IS b E IR B R R BUR

AEENTIENBITAREFLTES
RE BEEFR BEEER R hHE
MR B IR T RITER
RITHEHBR LR E - BARR  BERE
HiENRBELARER  RITREM
ERRABES - ZFERTANGE
BENABNE AREeRTAEH

financial instruments include market risk (currency risk and RS B TS R (5 ke &A=&

interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented in a timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

&R T H (%)
Bt 35 L B I B R R BUR (4])

Market risk % B
Currency risk s

The Group has foreign currency sales and purchases, which
exposes the Group to foreign currency risk. During the
year ended 31 December 2019, approximately 7% (2018:
approximately 5%) of the Group’s sales are denominated in
United States dollars (“US$”) and approximately 14% (2018:
approximately 11%) of purchases are denominated in US$
which are different from the functional currencies of the group
entities carrying out the transactions.

Also, certain trade, bills and other receivables, cash and bank
balances, trade, bills and other payables and bank borrowings
are denominated in RMB, US$, HK$, Japanese Yen (“JPY”) and
other currencies which are currencies other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entities. The carrying amounts
of the transactions currency denominated monetary assets
and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as

AEBBINEHERRBEGTE S48 &%
| T F& oS L B - B = 20194 12 A 31
BIEFEE  AEBME 7% (20184 : 495%)
R EBEIUET ([EX]) IERLT14%
(20184F : £911%) MIFEAERB LA TLYI(E -
HEFTRETISNNEEERR -

SO - BT RURR - B R R R EAM
FEN IR - B RIRTTHE R - SRR -
J& A R4 e B Al A SRIEIA S R TT (8 3K
MARKE -Zx- -8Bt -BE(HEAD
LEEEEEREEENINEME
BIE AEERBREMRUARZEE
FHEMEREEREBAGNEREEN

follows: N
Assets Liabilities
BE =K
2019 2018 2019 2018
2019 20184 2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#&x FHET TExT FHET
RMB AR 167 384 - -
Us$ ETT 73,124 34,988 110,251 83,724
HK$ BT 184 523 744 689
JPY = 2 - 1,290 3,098

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the directors of the Company continuously
monitor the related foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to RMB, HK$ and JPY.

No sensitivity analysis was prepared for US$ as the financial
assets and liabilities denominated in US$ are mainly held by
the subsidiaries with HK$ as the function currency and HK$ is
pegged to USS.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase or decrease in the functional currencies of the relevant
group entities against the relevant foreign currencies other than
US$. 5% (2018: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represents the management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of each
reporting period for a 5% (2018:5%) change in foreign currency
rates. A positive (negative) number below indicates an increase
(a decrease) in post-tax profit where the respective functional
currencies strengthen by 5% (2018: 5%) against the relevant
currency. For a 5% (2018: 5%) weakening of the respective
functional currencies against the relevant foreign currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit.

&R T H (%)
Bt 35 L B I B R R BUR (4])

% E kg (%)

B (&)

HREE D

AEBEIZ2EHARE ATRAER
[\ o

HRAXTAENEREERABER
HATIREEB RETHHBRRSEE
M8 T ESR T A - AL B R TETT
BRE DT ©

TRFAVNAEBEBEEBETEEITTUAIN
HIh e B IR INE EF kT B 5%
R ERE ° 5% (20184F : 5% ) AR EB[A)
TEEIE A B REHNE R FTEAR 8
R R RREEEBYIINEERLIEA
BEEFMNTG SEAELSNERES A
BEWAINEDEHERIER - WHLIE
R F)5% (20184F : 5% ) MU N & HE
HARMBEERAZE - TXAIMIE(8)
HAE RSB SE L HEEINEAE
5% (2018 4F : 5%) R Rt 18 FI B 00 (Rt
) g BB HAEEINEEZE 5%
(2018%F : 5% ) ' BEH A BEAXAES
MR E -

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHET

HERMBEORZE

Impact on profit for the year

RMB AR
HK$ BT
JPY S|

i) (7 (16)
(i 24 7
(i) 55 129
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)
(i)  This is mainly attributable to the exposure to bank balances

and cash and trade receivables denominated in RMB at the
end of the reporting period.

(i)  This is mainly attributable to exposure to bank balances,
trade receivables and trade payables denominated in HK$
at the end of the reporting period.

(i)  This is mainly attributable to exposure to trade payables
denominated in JPY at the end of the reporting period.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate pledged bank deposits and deposits with bank
(see Note 22), fixed-rate bank and other borrowings (see
Note 25) and fixed-rate obligations under finance leases (see
Note 26). The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider other necessary actions when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate pledged bank deposits and bank balances (see
Note 22) and variable-rate bank borrowings (see Note 25). It
is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of
interest so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on these financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section
of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR”)/London Interbank Borrowing Rate (“LIBOR”)
arising from the Group’s Hong Kong dollars denominated
borrowings and the fluctuation of Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”)
arising from the Group’s RMB denominated borrowings.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the amount of assets and liabilities outstanding at the end of
the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis point (2018: 50 basis point) increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents the management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2018: 50 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2019
would decrease/increase by HK$225,000 (2018: post-tax profit
decrease/increase by HK$439,000). This is mainly attributable
to the Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk on its
variable-rate bank borrowings.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of our Group mainly arises from bank balances,
pledged bank deposits, deposits with bank, trade receivables,
bills receivables and deposits and other receivables. The carrying
amounts of these balances represent our Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the ECL for customers with long
relationship and significant balances on an individual basis and
for the remaining balances, collectively by using a provision
matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss experience, as
well as the general economic conditions of the industry in which
the debtors operate. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

For bills receivables and deposits and other receivables, the
Group has assessed whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group will measure the loss
allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the
reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. In
particular, the following indicators are incorporated:

e internal credit rating

e actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligations

e significant changes in the expected performance and
behavior of the debtor, including changes in the payment
status of debtors in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the debtor.

The Group's exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked a team
to develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk gradings to
categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of
default. The management uses other publicly available financial
information and the Group’s own trading records to rate its major
customers and other debtors. The Group’s exposure and the
credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored
and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread
amongst approved counterparties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. &R TE ()
Financial risk management objectives and B EBREREBERBE (&)
policies (continued)
Credit risk (continued) BEERE (%)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (continued) FEFE G IZRER (E)
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the REEEB A2 EERRITRELRBEN
following categories: T#aRl

Basis for recognising

Category Description ECL
ERENREESE

%5l ikt P=%

Performing For financial assets where there has been low risk of default or 12-month ECL

has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and that are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

J& %) HREDRBRBES N VIRERUAREERRIT |EAZE ML  12@ABBEEEE
WERLREERENSREE (BFE—BR)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant increase Lifetime ECL - not credit
in credit risk since initial recognition but that are not credit impaired
impaired (refer to as Stage 2)

T &t SRR ERAREERRBEEMEYELREEREN FERRBEESS
TREE(EE_RR) — W EEREERE

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or Lifetime ECL — credit
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated impaired

future cash flows of that asset have occurred
(refer to as Stage 3)

E 4 BERLSHZEAEMAARKRARRBEXN TN EN - HFENRBEEESR
ZHEN AleREESRTITR/LREERE (FBE=HK) —HREERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is written off
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery

85 ERBETERABARENMBRELEASEINRRAER HMEEEERE
AT E A B RIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group's exposure to credit risk (continued)

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s financial
assets, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
by credit risk rating grades.

6. €M T A (%)
Bt 35 L B I B R R BUR (4])

EER (&)

AEEE G ZEm R (&
TRAMREERRTEE D ZAEE
CREEZEEEEUNAEEERZ
RAEERRE

2019 2018
N19E AN18F
Gross Net Gross Net
Internal credit 12-month or carrying Loss carrying carrying Loss carrying
Notes ~ rating lifetime ECL amount allowance amount amount  allowance amount
12ERSHEHY
B ABEEIR RHEEER REAE BRER  REFE EEE R R
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Ti#n Tin Tién Thn Thn T
Trade receivables (Note) Lifetime ECL (simplified
19 approach) 484,539 (30,260) 454,279 439,204 (29,655) 409,549
G (M) FERRDCERR
(i)
Bills receivables 19 Performing 12-month ECL 92,069 - 92,069 102,036 - 102,036
EUEE B 12EARBEESR
Deposits and other Performing 12-month ECL
recelvables 20 43621 (2,184) 41,443 34,388 (1,539 32,856
e RAMENTE ) 12ERESEEER
(32,444) (31,187)
Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach M BERERNS  AEBERETEHMK

in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on trade receivables individually and collectively
by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit
loss experience and the past due status of the debtors, adjusted
as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future
economic conditions. Note 19 includes further details on the loss
allowance for these assets.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 58% (31
December 2018: 71%) of the total trade receivables was due

from the Group’s five largest customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The

management monitors the utilisation of bank and other
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank and other borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. As at 31 December 2019, the Group has
available unutilised trade financing and bank loan facilities of
HK$285,980,000 (2018: HK$221,911,000), details of which are
set out in Note 25(¢).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. Specifically, bank and other borrowings
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest
time band regardless of the probability of the banks or financial
institution choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates
for other non-derivatives financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate
curve at the end of each reporting period.
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/ NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2019412 831 B It F/E

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. SRIT A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and MEERE B FERBER (8)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mENE £ EE (8)

As at 31 December 2019
12019 12F 31
More than More than

On demand 1 year but 2 years but Total
or within less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying

1 year PATE ] 5 years 5years cash flows amount
EER BB1E BiBoF 33
H15ER Bom2E  BIR5E 58N0E  REReE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 LE
T FTHx T Fi#x Fi#n FHr

Trade payables ERER 241,923 - - - 241,923 241,923
Bills payables ERER 296,147 - - - 296,147 296,147
Other payables and acoruals £ EFUAR
BRER 49,830 - - - 49,830 49,830
Lease liabilities HERE 5,329 3,636 6,519 1,641 17,125 14,882
Bank and other borrowings 4T R EMER
(Note) (Ft3E) 288,17 - - - 288,171 288,171
Corporate bond NS 160 160 2,280 - 2,600 1,856
881,560 3,796 8,799 1,641 895,796 892,809

As at 31 December 2018

201812 4318
More than More than

On demand 1 year but 2 years but Total
or within less than less than undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount

EEX BBE B2 REGR
R1ER BoRE BOR5E Benegd RER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TER TR TR
Trade payables JETERE 184,162 - - 184,162 184,162
Bills payables ENEE 252,698 - - 252,698 252,698

Other payables and accruals EtEAFER

BRER 19,315 - - 19,315 19,315
Bank and other borrowings (Note) 317 R EM{E 3 (i) 313,714 - - 313,714 313,714
Obligations under finance leases BEMERR 1,017 1,233 - 2,250 2,099
Corporate bond REEH 160 160 2,440 2,760 1816
771,066 1,393 2,440 774,899 773,804
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M HRIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Note: Bank and other borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or within 1 year” time band in the above
maturity analysis. At 31 December 2019, the aggregate amounts of
these bank and other borrowings amounted to HK$288,171,000 (2018:
HK$313,714,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial position,
the directors of the Company do not believe that it is probable that the
banks and financial institution will exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The directors of the Company believe
that these bank and other borrowings will be repaid in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. At that
time, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will amount to
HK$293,874,000 (2018: HK$317,992,000).

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change if changes in variable interest rates differ from those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of each
reporting period.
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RENE £ B ()
MHEE - R B R EE IR IR 1T R E A 1

REMBHE ST ATEERE1FR]
RIBSFEZR R - 20196 12 A31 H » %%
1T I E 18 5K /) 48 58 /45 288,171,000%8
7T (20184F : 313,714,000/ 7T) ° &%
EAEENTBERRE  ARARESY
TREBRITRECBEEEBTEER
BHRERNBER - ARREERAEZ
SRTREMERBERESENRER G #
WIETEFBEESRE - BR A2 kT
BIR @ 45 A8 51 293,874,000 7% 7T
(20184F : 317,992,000787T) °

WIBFERBER B REHRET
BEHFIR - LRI A SBA ETH
FETASENARE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. ERIT A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and BERAREEEERBE (&)
policies (continued)
Fair value ARE
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments TERRERSREAREAABTED
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting P TAESN  UREBEAEESBER
period, grouped into Level 2 based on the degree to which the ERARBEABRIBEDERE_F -
fair value is observable in accordance to the Group’s accounting
policy.
2019 2018
20194 2018
Level 2 Level 2
EZHR ER
HK$’000 HK$000
TiExT FHT
Financial assets at FVTPL BAAEFABREZEREE
Wealth management product P8 - 162,967
The following table gives information about how the fair value of TRIREBUMNEEZEREZ AR
these investment is determined. BEF -
Fair value Valuation technique
Financial Instruments hierarchy Fair value as at and key inputs
HEIA DREER RUTHHBHzZAAE EERMN R EEWA RS
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
201945 20184
12A31H 12H31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#&xT FHETT
Wealth management product Level 2 Quoted by the relevant banks
BB E B - 152,967 MHERITRE
During both reporting periods, there were no transfers between PRERESHEAR AnEBRZER
levels of fair value hierarchy. R EeERs o
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying KRAREERE  REMBRERAHHE
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at RARERMNEEARNEREERS
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method in the MEENREEREQAERE -

consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M H R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 7. WEREMBA

2019 2018
20194 2018 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHETT

Revenue from contracts with customers &HiEERELH E155%

within the scope of HKFRS 15 SEERAZRBEEEFEHAZ
U 25
Disaggregated by major products BREEEMES ZAH

Sales of goods HEEm
LED backlight LED & 3 950,106 847,556
LED lighting LED BB FA 94,777 81,995
High-tech electronic components and SEEEFERMHRESR

products 1,170,091 1,320,235

2,214,974 2,249,786

2019 2018
2019 2018 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T8 FHET

Disaggregation of revenue by timing of BRERRHME 2 2 zsAH

recognition
Timing of revenue recognition Y 25 TR R RS
At a point in time e Sl 2,214,974 2,249,786
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (continued) 7. WEREMUA ()

An analysis of the Group’s other income for the year is as AEBFANEMBPAITAT :
follows:
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHET
Other income Hiig A
Bank interest income RITHBUA 8,241 10,581
Government grants (Note) BT f B (B 7E) 8,102 19,318
Sales of scrapped materials 546 BE R 1,424 9
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BB R E R E
equipment 23 26
Sundry income MEMA 3,358 2,298
21,148 32,232
Note: Included in the amount, there are government grants immediately Mz : R BEBEEHE2019F12 A31 8 1k

recognised as other income during the year ended 31 December
2019 of HK$7,965,000 (2018: HK$6,502,000) which were received
from the PRC government in respect of certain research projects and
under export incentive scheme, the relevant granting criteria for which
have been fulfilled. For the year ended 31 December 2019, amount
of HK$137,000 (2018: HK$12,816,000) were government grants
recognised as deferred income utilised during the year (see Note 29).

F[E BRI RS FERR B H Uk A B9 BR AT 4 B
7,965,000 7T (2018 4 : 6,502,000 %
) WARETHRBEEREEL D
ERERBBREZEEZATEBA
U BN FRTE - B = 2019412 A31 A 1t
FEZ o BT #5 B)137,00078 7T (2018 4F -
12,816,000/ ) ERAFRNE B AL
EEWA (RFE29) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”) for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods
or services delivered or provided. In addition, for both LED
backlight and LED lighting operations and sourcing business of
high-tech electronic components and products, the information
reported to the CODM is further broken down into different types
of products and application of products. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments

under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

1. LED backlight — Manufacture and trading of LED
backlight products in different sizes
and applications

2. LED lighting — Manufacture and trading of LED
lighting products for public and
commercial use

3. Sourcing business — Provision of high-tech electronic
components and products sourcing
business
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. SEEMN (&)
Segment revenues and results SIS R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results AEEZRAZHREEDBEDHEE R
by reportable and operating segments. EESNWT -
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZ2019512A31ALLEE
LED LED Sourcing
backlight lighting business Total
LED & * LED 88 BH REER #at
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT Fi8x FiBT Fi8T
REVENUE Y25
External sales SNERGH & 950,106 94,777 1,170,091 2,214,974
Segment profit 7B FE 119,132 5,447 19,034 143,613
Unallocated income FaN N 11,599
Unallocated expenses RO (85,785)
Unallocated finance costs RO BRI IR (29,258)
Profit before tax B % AT 40,169
For the year ended 31 December 2018 B ZE2018F12A31HILFE
LED LED Sourcing
backlight lighting business Total
LED 3¢ LED F&RR REEZET BET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET FAT FAT
REVENUE Y25
External sales HSNEBEHE 847,556 81,995 1,320,235 2,249,786
Segment profit 7 BB A 114,317 12,058 16,038 142,413
Unallocated income ROBLUA 12,905
Unallocated expenses a3 (77,578)
Finance costs B 75 A AN (28,215)
Profit before tax B 31 A1 A1 E 49,525
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M HRIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3.
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, directors’
emoluments, interest income, net foreign exchange losses,
sundry income and certain unallocated finance costs. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

by reportable and operating segments:

Segment assets

8. ZEEH ()

BB ERES (]

LENAN G R AN EIM A A K

EEFHE K D& MB TR D B
BHFE TEEFRITRER EF
e MEBMA EXEBERFE ME
WARETARDBEFAERANDE - 1t
TIMEELERRAMBEERERD
fic Ko RGO G -

SMEERERE

AEBEZAZHREEDHMEADNEER
BEDFOT

DEEE

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$’'000

THExT FET

LED backlight LED & 3¢ 906,991 854,972

LED lighting LED f2H3 72,640 72,096

Sourcing business R E 291,642 190,949

Total segment assets DEEERE 1,271,273 1,118,017

Unallocated assets RAOWEE 338,439 449,530

Consolidated total assets IR EERE 1,609,712 1,567,547
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

Segment liabilities

8. ﬁ}ﬁr‘ﬁﬂ(nﬁ)
SHEEREE(E)
SEEE

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$°000 HK$'000

TExT T

LED backlight LED &% 560,983 444,932
LED lighting LED FR 85 50,241 56,877
Sourcing business T 21,724 76,865
Total segment liabilities DEPEEBE 632,948 578,674
Unallocated liabilities KoL aE 301,075 329,352
Consolidated total liabilities meAafEes 934,023 908,026
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and MERSBRIABESEHIEERMS -

allocating resources between segments:

140

all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
deferred tax assets, financial assets at FVTPL, pledged
bank deposits, deposits with bank, bank balances and
cash and certain unallocated head office assets. Assets
used jointly by operating segments are allocated on the
basis of the revenues earned by individual reportable
segments; and

all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than income tax payables, bank and other borrowings,
obligations under finance leases, corporate bond, deferred
tax liabilities and certain unallocated head office liabilities.
Liabilities for which operating segments are jointly liable are
allocated in proportion to segment revenue.

FrBEEENEEEZEEDES L
HEE WBAREFABRZEH®
BE  SEARITER  RITER
RITEBRNIEEARETRDELE
FOEERRIN c REE D FBHRF A
K& ERER T 2®D MBATE MK

o Rk

- Fﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁai EED

B EASPT

BH RITEREMER BREHE

1E I8
EFRHELE

AAES BERBERER
BEEBRI - B

D ERHEFIAEN B ER D B H

eI B ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M5 RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. ZEPEMN (&)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) PEHEEREE(8)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE2019F 12831 HLLFE
LED LED Sourcing
backlight lighting business Unallocated Total
LED% % LED R B8 RBEYR RAE At
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
THT Tt T#T THT T
Amounts included in the AR A HEE
measure of segment profit ATERNSE:

or loss or segment assets:

Additions to non-current assets ¥ A E IERENBE? 71,146 5,151 - - 76,297
Depreciation of property, 0¥ BERRERTE

plant and equipment 42,031 1,176 - - 43,207
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ FiEH & 1,420 1,173 - - 2,593
Gain on disposal of property, HENE  BEX

plant and equipment, net RERRTE - 23 - - 23
Loss on write-off of property, MEDE  BER

plant and equipment REEE 279 7 - - 286
Impairment loss recognised in HERER R EM

respect of trade and other FEW F AR

receivables WEEE 2,675 448 - - 3,123
(Reversal of) provision of inventories 17 & (B[al) & (825) 5 - - (820)

Amounts regularly providedto EHRTFESEREA
the CODM but notincluded in ~ RHEF A2 6
the measure of segment profit ERHFBEEHE

or loss or segment assets: HeH:

Interest income FIEWA - - - 8,241 8,241

Finance costs SRR 241 182 - 29,258 29,681
# Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets. # ERBEETBRIEELEHBEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

8. DEBEH (&)
THEEREE(E
HZE2018512HA31BILLEE

LED LED Sourcing
backlight lighting business  Unallocated Total
LEDE % LEDFRHH REXEH Al =X
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL FET TEL TEL FET
Amounts included in the AR MRRRAHEE
measure of segment profit TENEE:
or loss or segment assets:
Additions to non-current assets ¥ R EIEREEE" 50,014 3,635 - - 53,649
Amortisation of prepaid lease BNEERIREH
payments 485 427 - - 912
Depreciation of property, nE BERRERTE
plant and equipment 39,563 2,300 - - 41,863
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, H&ENE  FE K
plant and equipment, net REBE () 8 237 (26) - - 211
Loss on write-off of property, MEDE BER
plant and equipment REEE 89 9 - - 98
(Reversal of) impairment loss HRMGRZ R E M
recognised in respect of trade JEYRIE TR
and other receivables BIEESE () (2,236) 396 - - (1,840)
Provision of inventories FERE 10,772 3,583 - - 14,355
Amounts regularly providedto EHIRTEZEREA
the CODM but notincluded in R EFE A2
the measure of segment profit BRI BEEHE
or loss or segment assets: HeH:
Interest income FEKA - - - 10,581 10,581
Finance costs BB - - - 28,215 28,215

#

142

Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets and deposits with

bank.

t o ERBEETEEEERIREERRITER °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M H R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. SEEMN (&)
Revenue from major products KEFEEEMBNS
Analysis by type of products EBEEGRERE 20D
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FilxT FHET
LED backlight LED &%
— Small dimension —/NRST 324,281 302,990
— Medium dimension —f R~f 518,071 414,713
— Large dimension — KR~ 107,754 129,853
Sub-total INET 950,106 847,556
LED lighting LED & A
— Indoor lighting — =R A 79,006 56,535
— Qutdoor lighting — = HNR A 15,771 25,460
Sub-total INET 94,777 81,995
Sourcing business R T 1,170,091 1,320,235
Total a&t 2,214,974 2,249,786
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. SEEMN (&)
Revenue from major products (continued) KEEXEEmBIURES (8)
Analysis by application of products BEEGRERESHS
2019 2018
20194 20184F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHT
LED backlight LED &%
— Automobile displays —HE A~ 639,290 489,285
— Equipment displays — BB~ 204,038 229,117
— Televisions —EARH 106,778 129,154
Sub-total INET 950,106 847,556
LED lighting LED & A
— Public lighting — R FARREA 15,770 25,755
- Commercial lighting — A IREA 79,007 56,240
Sub-total INET 94,777 81,995
Sourcing business R T 1,170,091 1,320,235
Total a&t 2,214,974 2,249,786
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M H R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. FMEH (&)
Geographical information M i & 4
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the PRC. AEENEBEEBFUREBERFPE K
The Group’s customers are mainly located in Hong Kong and SENEFPFEURBERPE -
the PRC.
An analysis of the Group’s revenue from external customers is AEBEZEEFPHEMBE HREIINER
presented based on the location of customers as below: PO ESINET -

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
TiExT FHET
The PRC a2 2,078,545 2,137,964
Hong Kong BB 33,811 18,301
Others HAith 102,618 93,521
2,214,974 2,249,786
The Group’s information about its non-current assets is AEEREEMBUNEI S NIERDE
presented based on location of the assets as below: EEARNT :
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHT
The PRC s 295,671 279,651
Hong Kong B 6,207 419
301,878 280,070
Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets and deposits R EENBIEEERIBEE LIETT
with bank. e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. FMEH (&)
Information about major customers FEEFEH
Details of the customers accounting for 10% or more of HAREERZZAEI0% A ENEFH
aggregate revenue of the Group are as follows: BT -

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
Ti&x FET
Customer A*™* BE A 540,495 914,186
Customer B* =FB* 468,195 408,793
Customer C** BEC™ 440,293 236,255

* Revenue from LED backlight. * RELED A A s o

**  Revenue from sourcing business. = REAFRBEBHUE -

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BFFERA
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&x FAET
Interest expenses on: LATEEHMNERE

— Bank and other borrowings —RIT R EABIER 29,058 27,949
- Corporate bond —QREH 200 200
- Lease liabilities —fHEaE 423 -
— Finance leases —HEHE - 66

29,681 28,215
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M HRIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. FRfE M

2019 2018
20194 2018 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Current income tax EHMEH

PRC Enterprise Income Tax RIS

— Current year G

— Over-provision in prior years — BT FEREEE
Deferred taxation (Note 27) EEFIA (M FE27)

Total income tax expense for the year

FESHFA AR

7,246 10,862
(3,694) (4,534)
3,552 6,328

(531) (1,910)
3,021 4,418

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong
Profits Tax for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC companies is 25% for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: 25%).

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Group’s subsidiaries, Wai Chi Opto Technology (Shenzhen)
Limited* (12 & %t & OXIJII) B R 2 &) and Huizhou Wai Chi
Electronics Company Limited* (R /M{ZEE T B R A7), were
accredited as high-tech enterprises. They are entitled to the
preferential tax rate of 15% for both years.

*

The English name is for identification purpose only
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TEEBDORAURER  AEBHER
NSRS L EB R U BN ERMSH -

AR AEBRE E 20194 K 20184F 12
A1 BItFESEIMBHANETEFNE
BRHEREAE WAEETEELS
BRI STEE -

RIEFESEMEHE ([ REREBHED
M EFRBHEERIGH - REZE2019
F12HABHLEFE FERANHES
25% (20184F : 25%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss

10. FTi8 %R ()

FREMEHERRGA BREF TR
AR DT -

as follows:
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
T8 T T
Profit before tax B 25 Al AR 40,169 49,525
Tax calculated at the domestic income tax rate 1% B A Fr 13 T 1 & 25% 5+ #Y
of 25% (2018: 25%) Fi18 (2018 4F : 25%) 10,042 12,381
Effect of preferential tax rate in the PRC FREEHENTE (5,224) (6,580)
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries HmrzEEBENHEB AR
operating in other jurisdictions TR ENFE 851 1,250
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax A 174 B X MO FR IS 2 &
purposes 2,526 938
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BARBTRANB KB E
purposes (162) (90)
Additional tax deduction for research and i B SE M SR IN TR R &
development expenses (3,113) (1,194)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERTEEENT BT E 1,955 2,051
Tax effect of other temporary differences not AR FER E b BB M 2= B 1Y
recognised MG E 73 735
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FABARERNHIBESE
recognised (233) (539)
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFERERE (3,694) (4,534)
Income tax expense for the year FEMBRAX 3,021 4,418

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in Note 27.
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11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M HRIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

11. £ EFIiBE

Profit for the year has been arrived at after
charging (crediting):

Directors’ emoluments (Note 12(a))

Salaries and allowances (excluding directors)

Retirement benefit scheme contributions
(excluding directors)

Total staff costs

Auditor’s remuneration

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments

Net foreign exchange losses

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses
(included in cost of sales) (Note a)

Provision of inventories (included in other gains
and losses) (Note b)

Reversal of provision of inventories
(included in other gains and losses) (Note c)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use-assets

Impairment loss (reversal of impairment loss)
recognised in respect of trade and other
receivables, net (included in other gains and
losses)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Loss on write-off of property, plant and
equipment

Lease expenses for short-term leases

FEMNBRIE GEA) T
BIRRE

ZEE (HrE12()

Fe M EM(TBIEES)

RIREFIET B
(TBREES)

BTRAMEER

A2 B i B

a1 S R IE 8

B 5 B3 185 58

ERBAXNEFEERAN (GFA
HEMAR) (HiiEa)

FEEE Gt AR fbias
K E18) (f45Eb)

BofraEEE Gt AR
Wzt M Est8) (MisEc)

ME  FBERRBITE

EREEENE

T W B R R L At e M R IR
FER R R IEE 1R OREE 1R
) FE (FEAH A Y e
K E518)

HEWE - BFE &R EER

MEHENEERX

Minimum lease payments paid under operating #1Z & & A EE N2 X +F

lease on premises

RIEEE KA

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
5,879 6,050
192,629 171,973
16,982 11,634
215,490 189,657
1,045 1,015

- 912

503 514
1,986,007 2,002,523
45 16,765

(865) (2,410)
43,207 41,863
2,593 -
3,123 (1,840)

- 237

286 98
6,845 -

- 7,408

Notes:

FaE

(@

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense included depreciation of
property, plant and equipment and staff costs of HK$37,130,000 (2018:
HK$34,862,000) and HK$132,910,000 (2018: HK$119,010,000)
respectively. The amounts were also included in the respective
amounts disclosed above.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, a provision of HK$45,000
(2018: HK$16,765,000) was made for write-down of obsolete
inventories that are no longer suitable for use in production or saleable
in the market.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, a reversal of provision of
HK$865,000 (2018: HK$2,410,000) was made due to the sellout of
inventories written off in previous year.
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BRERAINGFEERADNBRIEDE -
[ 55 Ko 5% 4 3T 8 A & B TR 48 37,130,000
77T (20184 : 34,862,000 7t) &
132,910,000 7T (20184 : 119,010,000
BIL) cRESBANCTALXAEER
HEASESF -

HZE2019F12A31BIEFE  MOR T
BEAREEXRET SHENRETFTER
12 & 8 45,0008 7T (2018 4F : 16,765,000
BIT) e

HE2019F12A31BILFE BREE

PMEFEMENTE  WELBERR
865,000% 7 (2018 4F : 2,410,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2019412 831 B It F/E

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 12.EF - FTETBAERESM
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS o
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EBERFETHASES
emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight (2018: FRHRNENSIENERFENE
eight) directors and the CEO of the Company during the (20184 : NB) BEZ RITHAHN
year were as follows: T

Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
HhEs BUEHTES
Ms. Yiu Ms. Yong
KwanYu  Mr.Chen Jian Hui
Mr.Yiu  Mr.Chen (Salesand Wei Wu (Deputy Mr. Au
For the year ended ChiTo Chung  Marketing  (Financial General Yeung  Mr.Chen Mr. Ho

31 December 2019 (Chairman) ~ Po(CEQ)  Manager)  Controller) ~ Manager) TinWah  Kwok Wang Chi Wai
¥ G
KEERE REREE (BERTE REEEE HEELE  BEXE £l O]
BE20195 12831 ALEE (TR (THAR) BREE) (HELE) (REER) K& bt 3 ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tién Tién Tién Ti#n Tién Tk Tién T

Emoluments paid or receivable n  5t% SR (&t
respect of aperson’s sendces  ARFEINENEAR
asadrector, whetherof the ~~ K1E %) EX [
Company or its Subsidlary ALFHIALER

undertaking e
Fees #e - - - - - 240 144 144 528
Other emoluments Hfhe
Salaries ¥4 2,702 1,300 780 297 161 - - - 5,240
Controutions toretiement ~ RAKGEFIETEILER
benefits scheme 18 18 18 30 2 - - - 11

2,720 1,318 79 321 188 240 144 144 5879
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 12.EE - FETHAEBRESH
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) £ (48)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EBREFETBRAEME (E)
(continued)
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
41783 BuFanES
Ms. Yiu Ms. Yong

Kwan Yu Mr. Chen Jian Hui
Mr. Yiu Mr.Chen  (Selesand Wei Wu (Deputy Mr. Au

For the year ended ChiTo Chung  Marketing ~ (Financial General Yewng  Mr.Chen Mr.Ho
31 December 2018 (Chairman) Po (CEQ) Manager)  Controller) Manager) TinWah  Kwok Wang Chi Wi Total
HERRL
REERE REILE (RERDS REREE EEERt  BRRE REZ 8
HE0I8F12A81BIEFE (IR) (AR##) kEER) (HeR) (F8ER) i i3 v A

HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKE0O0  HKE0O0  HKS000  HK§0OD  HK§000  HKS000
TEL TiEn TER TER TEL TiEn TER TER TR

Emoluments paid or receivablein - 5t E SR (&85
respect of aperson’s senvices  AAAHENEAR
asadiector, whetherofthe  M1ZH)EXEAL
Company or its subsidlary EEYNN L Golile

undertaking
Fees e - - - - - 240 144 144 528
Other emoluments e
Salaries ¥4 27% 1,300 844 312 164 - - - 5414
Contributions to retiement RIVBFIEIER
benefits scheme 18 18 18 24 30 - - - 108
2812 1,318 862 336 194 240 144 144 6,050
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were i ITEEZ2MES AN E ST
for their services in connection with the management of the EIEAEBEESATIRME 2 RS -
affairs of the Group.
None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any RE 220199F & 20184F 12 A31 H
emoluments paid by the Group during the years ended 31 IFE HBEEERERERE
December 2019 and 2018. EA#E -
Mr. Chen Chung Po is also the CEO of the Company and PR GE L L A N AR D BITEARE -
the emoluments disclosed above include those for services EXHEENNEBIEEBRFEELR
rendered by him as the CEO of the Company. NETTHEBHRERBHME
There were no performance related incentive payments to RE E2019F % 2018F 12 A31 H
the directors and CEO of the Company during the years HEE - TELSFEXEHGES
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. TARRNBEERITHREH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 12. EE - FETHABRESH

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, three (2018: three) were directors or CEO of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The emoluments of these directors are included in the
disclosures in Note 12(a) above. The emoluments of the
remaining two (2018: two) individuals for the year ended 31
December 2019 were as follows:

=
m

(b) EEEE

REZE2019F12 831 B IEFE -
rEEBREESMEATH =5
(20184 : =8) BARAIEEHIT
WER ZFESHWHEER LEX
M sE12(a) #2 8 - B Z=20194F 12
A1 BIEFE #HTMA (20184 :

Salaries and other allowances Fre M HEMERL
Retirement benefit scheme contributions iR /K78 F 5 214 7%

ME) ATHBESIT :
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHEx FHET
1,667 1,664
36 36
1,703 1,600

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

ZEALHMEN T TIIHBE :

2019 2018
20194 20184

No. of No. of
employees employees

EESHE EE#A

Not more than HK$1,000,000 % 1,000,000 7% 7T

There were no performance related incentive payments
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals and any of the directors and CEO of the
Company as an incentive payment to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office during the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

REZ2019F N 2018412 A31 H
IFFE - WS ERIB MY EES -

REE20194F %2018 12 A31 H
HFE AEBTEARAERSH
AT R R R EGEREEMITHE
HI A fEAMARERE SN
AREERH B BB A -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M H R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

13. DIVIDEND 13. lg B
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 BE &R SRR B 2201956 12 A
December 2019, nor has any dividend been proposed since the STALEFEZRE  BfREHREIE
end of the reporting period (2018: Nil). IR E MRS (20184 « ) o

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BIR2F

2019 2018
20194 2018 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T

Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted ~ {E&+ & & f% E AN K #58 2 F

earnings per share RaanaF 37,148 45,107
2019 2018
20194 20184
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of ~ {E&+ & & IX F AN K 5% 2 F
basic and diluted earnings per share AT Eike s 216,825,000 216,825,000
Basic and diluted earnings per share ERERREERF
(HK$ per share) (BET) 0.17 0.21
The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings AR E ZE2019F K 2018F 12 A31 H I
per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares FEANTEDHTAEEEBENENT
outstanding during the years ended 31 December 2019 and B NSRS ERNEGSRERNEF
2018. HE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2019412 831 B It F/E

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

CosT
At 1 January 2018
Additions
Disposals/write-off
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2018
Impact on initial adoption
of HKFRS 16

At 1 January 2019
Additions
Disposals/write-off
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2019

A
201851418
TE
& /s
AR

R2018F 125318
BRRRE AN RREE
HE 1% E

201951 A18
TE

&/

5

R2019F 125318

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 2itHiERHESR

AND IMPAIRMENT LOSS

At 1 January 2018

Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposals/write-off
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2018
Impact on initial adoption
of HKFRS 16

At 1 January 2019

Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposals/write-off
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2019

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2019

At 31 December 2018

R2018F151H
Epztie
AR

R2018F 125318
BRRRE AN RREE
HE 1% E

R2019F1518
EgitiR

AR

R2019F 125318

REE
R2019F12A31 B

R2018E12A31 B

15. W% - MERR

Plant and Motor Office  Leasehold Construction

machinery vehicles  equipment  improvements Buildings in progress Total

RERHS RE BOERE  EAMREER i fRIR 2
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T Tk T T
332,104 6,843 21345 23,063 128,107 13,712 526,174
33,740 83 936 17,411 - 1479 53,649
(1911) - ) - - - (1982
(16,431) (184) (998 (1,690) (5,891) (684) (25,878)
347,502 6,742 21,212 39,384 122,216 14,507 551,563
(2479 - - - - - (2479
345,023 6,742 21,212 39,384 122,216 14,507 549,084
47,225 365 1,79 533 - 4,981 54,898
(6,708) - (690) - - - (6,398)
(8,345) (90) (479) (855) (2,671) (402) (12,838
378,195 7017 21,841 39,062 119,545 19,086 584,746
213,846 5213 17,437 13,197 17,229 13,614 280,636
35,437 701 1,604 1,465 2,566 - 41,863
(1570) - 66) - - - (1,630)
(11,067) (148) (853) (628) (886) (626) (14,208)
236,646 5,766 18,212 14,084 18,909 12,988 306,560
(294) - - - - - (294)
236,352 5,766 18,212 14,034 18,909 12,988 306,261
36,278 a7 1,105 2947 2,460 - 43207
(2.291) - (654) - - - (2.945)
(b,744) 1) (401) (341) (455) (284) (7,.297)
264,505 6,11 18,262 16,640 20,914 12,704 339,226
113,600 906 3,579 22422 98,631 6,382 245,520
110,856 976 3,000 25,350 108,307 1,519 245,008
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per
annum:

Plant and machinery 10% - 25%

Motor vehicles 10% - 33%

Office equipment 10% - 20%

Leasehold improvements 5% - 50%

Buildings Over the shorter of term

of the lease or 2.5%

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying values of plant and
machinery of HK$113,600,000 (2018: HK$110,856,000)
includes an amount of HK$24,935,000 (2018: HK$13,582,000)
which have been pledged to secure banking facilities and other
borrowings granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2019, buildings with carrying values of
HK$98,631,000 (2018: HK$103,307,000) have been pledged to
secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying values of plant and
machinery of HK$110,856,000 includes an amount of
HK$2,185,000 in respect of assets held under finance leases.
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15. W% - BERRE ()

tax  BEMRKBEB AERER
THFERFHENE -

5 M i 23 10%—25%

E 10% —33%

PRERME 10% —20%

HEMHEEE 5% —50%

1gF LHEFHK2.5%
(B GH B%E)

M2019F 12 A31H  ME K # 2 H
B8R M {8 A& 113,600,000 7T (20184 :
110,856,000/8 7T) * BIEE F UK EH
24,935,000 7t (2018 4F : 13,582,000 78
L) EARTASEIRITHE REM
BRI o

MN2019F 12 A31 B BEEEA
98,631,000 7T (2018 4F : 103,307,000
BIL)MEFE TUEKR  EAR TS
ERITREE AIEIR -

R2018F12A31H BEMEER
BR® {8 A& 110,856,000 jT © B #E 81 A
MEHEEETRENEEEABANIA
2,185,000 It °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 16. FREEEREEASRE
LIABILITIES
(i) Right-of-use assets (i) EHESE
31/12/2019 1/1/2019
20194 20194
12A31H 1H1H
HK$’000 HK$'000
Ti&xT FHET
Land T b 34,313 35,936
Buildings By 11,870 485
Plant and machinery B K23 4,593 2,185
50,776 38,606
Right-of-use assets of HK$34,313,000 represents land use {5 FA 7 & 7= 34,313,000 78 T AL A
rights located in the PRC. AR A Hb (R A o
The Group has lease arrangements for factory premises REEZELIWMMERMAENUR
and offices and plant and machinery. The lease terms are WMENEENHELE - HEHR
generally ranged from 2 to 6 years. —ENF2E6EF o
Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 BE2019F12A31BIEFE - £
December 2019 amounted to HK$15,722,000, due to new FA ¥ & E 18 N 15,722,000 7T+ TY
leases of buildings and plant and machinery. RMNMET HE RERAFEERTEL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M5 RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 16. FHEEERBEEASE (B)
LIABILITIES (continued)
(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HEAE

31/12/2019 1/1/2019

20194 20194

12A31H 1A1H

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET T

Non-current ERB 10,343 1,553

Current mE 4,539 1,031
14,882 2,584

Amounts payable under lease liabilities RIEHEEEEMHRE 31/12/2019
20194

12HA31H

HK$’000

TiEx

Within one year —F N 4,539

After one year but within two years —FREMFEA 3,096

After two years but within five years WEEBERFA 5,648

After five years AF% 1,599
14,882

Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months ~ J&t : W 1218 8 W EI B E /708

(shown under current liabilities) (RRBEEETIIR) (4,539)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months K128 A& B HEE R FIE 10,343

As at 31 December 2019, the lease liabilities in respect
of leased machineries under hire purchase agreements
amounted to HK$3,146,000 was secured by the title of
the lessor, who is a related party of the Company, to the
leased assets. During the year ended 31 December 2019,
the Group entered into a number of new lease agreements
in respect of renting buildings and plant and machinery and
recognised lease liabilities of HK$15,722,000.
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M2019%12 A31H  IREBEAE W
FHEMENTAEAEA3,146,000
B TR HEBEA (BEARQBHE
EAL)WMEEAEMBREERT-
REZE2019F12A31 A ILEE -
AREERHEERFULKE LS
RIVZEFHERBZATEERAE
& 515,722,000/ 7T, ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES (continued)

(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

16. EREEERBEESRE (B)

(iii) PR R AIFNIA

Year ended
31/12/2019
HZ20195F
12A31H
LEE
HK$’000
FiEx
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEAENE
- Land — 1 844
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE
- Buildings —8F 1,193
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAREENE
- Plant and machinery — B M 2% 556
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAEMNEMEZ 423
Expense relating to short-term leases EHHEERS 6,845
(iv) Others (iv) H{t

At 31 December 2019, the Group is committed to
HK$5,581,000 for lease agreements not yet commenced.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the total cash

outflow for leases amount to HK$10,705,000.

158

R2019F 12 A31H » NEEH 4
A F 5 &9 7 & 5 5% & & 5,581,000
BT e

REZE2019F12 831 HILEE -

FAE/MIE 2R H 4% 510,705,000
HBIT e

Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited | &R ER Q7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M5 RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

Prepaid lease payments as at 31 December 2018 comprise
leasehold land held in the PRC and are analysed for reporting
purposes as follows:

17. B HERE
MR2018F 12 AT HWMBHNEERER
BERAPEZEENEES T RS HE
DT

2018
20184
HK$’000
T

Current assets MENEE
Non-current assets ERMENEE

874
35,062

35,936

As at 31 December 2018, leasehold land with carrying values of
HK$35,936,000 have been pledged to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group.

18. INVENTORIES

MN2018F 12 A31H  EEHEEE
35,936,000 8 T E Lt - EAKR T
AEBIRITRIE I -

18. &

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#&x FAT
Raw materials R4 # 18,065 21,356
Work-in-progress TE& & 90,719 64,264
Finished goods BIRY G 102,800 102,786
211,584 188,406
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 19. EW R R RIR
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
Ti&xT FHET
Receivables at amortised cost comprise: LR AN ETE M EINEUR
BIE
Trade receivables FEUAR 3K 484,539 439,204
Less: allowance for impairment OB E R (30,260) (29,655)
454,279 409,549
Bills receivables e Z B 92,069 102,036
546,348 511,585
As at 31 December 2019, the gross amount of trade MR2019F 12 A31B RERFAEHZ
receivable arising from contracts with customers amounted to J7E U BR FX 4B %8 /& 484,539,000 78 7T (2018
HK$484,539,000 (2018: HK$439,204,000). F 1 439,204,000/ 7T) °
The Group allows an average credit period of 15 to 180 days AEBERMEZESFEFPE TI5E180K
(2018: 15 to 180 days) to its trade customers. The following (20184 : 152180 K) I FHEEH -
is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for LATARREHREEREH A (BB
impairment of trade receivables presented based on the invoice Wes R B EIRE) 25 2 YRR 3 (30
date, which approximates the respective revenue recognition FR FE IR FOR B R ) 2 BRI D AT ©

dates, at the end of the reporting period.

2019 2018
20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$’000

T8 FHET

0 to 90 days 0ZE 90K 427,829 395,080
91 to 180 days 91 E180K 19,893 11,007
181 to 365 days 181 & 365K 3,125 3,462
Over 365 days 365 KA E 3,432 -
454,279 409,549
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(continued)

All the bills receivables are aged within 365 days.

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables
are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past
default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry
in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date.

As at 31 December 2019, debtors with long relationship and
significant outstanding balances with gross carrying amount of
HK$328,912,000 (2018: HK$292,029,000) was assessed for
ECL individually.

In respect of the remaining trade receivables of HK$155,627,000
(2018: HK$147,175,000), as they relate to a large number of
customers with common risk characteristics and the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.
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19. BUERR K R (47)

B EWRIENRERS B365 KA

AEBZRBAERNFENBEREEBEN
TR ERYRFNEERE - BEKR
OB EEBERERBEERBMES
W2EBHARBEEDCEMERA
B AR AR AT - REBENR S B H
BEHEARENRE BEHALERET
FE ) —RFEAR A K B 7T R IERIAA R
T RARFHEEL R -

MN2019F12A31B - A ERHEE
MEBAMAEELHNERAEE
328,912,000% 7T (2018 4E : 292,029,000
BT MEBSADRBHEEBBET
B RIFFE -

PR T FEULER FX 155,627,000 7 7T (2018
& 147,175,000 L) M E > AR EE
BE—REAREENAEZFEBERIBE
AEBEMESEEBELR  TRAS
EEHBTEBEANBASEREEZR
Eit AR B BT @ AR AT B BB E
BRE—PEOSTENEFRE -
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/_ __ NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
N e M RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z2019412 831 B It F/E

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 19. BRI R RI& (48)
(continued)
The following table provides information which are assessed TRIBEEEBEEEMTHHER -

based on provision matrix.

Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying
As at 31 December 2019 7201912831 H loss rate amount Allowance
In#E S35
FEEIEB IR E IREAE BiE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT TiEx
Individually assessed (EGIERE 0.99% 328,912 3,270
Collectively assessed S E
0 to 90 days [CENCIFN 0.52% 117,963 611
91 to 180 days 91 E180K 0.02% 10,548 2
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365X 5.63% 568 32
Over 365 days 365 KA £ 99.24% 26,548 26,345
155,627 26,990
484,539 30,260
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 10. B BRI R 45 (48)

(continued)
Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying
As at 31 December 2018 R2018F 12 A31 H loss rate amount Allowance
hn#EFE
TEHR S 1B % IREBE B
% HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Individually assessed & B EE 1 2.35% 292,029 6,850
Collectively assessed SR
0 to 90 days 0ZF 90K 2.10% 114,889 2,413
91 to 180 days 91 £180K 14.64% 11,470 1,679
181 to 365 days 181 £365 K 28.04% 2,923 820
Over 365 days 365K 100% 17,893 17,893
147,175 22,805
439,204 29,655

—BME EERBTNEBARRNEE
MR EERK DA BEEE
TR B BATT /AR BB - BB 35 B LU AR 3K
ARG EI BT A A mERE

Generally, trade receivables are written-off when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery and are
not subject to enforcement activity. The Group does not hold
collateral as security.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 19. BRI R ZEE (8§)
(continued)
The movements of impairment of trade receivables are as FEMER R R EZEB T ¢
follows:

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$’000
T8 FHET
At 1 January W1A1A 29,655 34,975
Impairment loss (reversal of impairment loss) 73 1 5F & #E R A B (E
recognised in prior years 518 CREE R E) 2,450 (2,602)
Written off i (1,193) (1,258)
Exchange realignment R (652) (1,460)
At 31 December M®12A31H 30,260 29,655
20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20. FA{TENIE - B R H it EUR SR
RECEIVABLES bi= |
2019 2018
20194 2018 &
HK$°000 HK$000
T8 FET
Deposits and other receivables e & E b e EIE 43,627 34,388
Less: allowance for impairment of other A E A WG OR R B B
receivables (2,184) (1,532)
41,443 32,856
Value added tax receivables JE U I (BT 2,754 12,009
Prepayments for: TEfT5RIE
— Sourcing business — BT 211,471 137,082
- Others —H At 7,000 9,667
262,668 191,614
Details of impairment assessment of other receivables for the EBEZE2019F12A31BIEFEHE
year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in Note 6. fth FEWGRIB R E RS 2 FH IR E N6 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M5 RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements of impairment of other receivables are as
follows:

20. Tg.{(ﬂ;fklﬁ SR EH B
I’~ =]

m

Hfth R YR IRM B EZE BT

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
T8 T T
At 1 January ®1A1H 1,532 794
Impairment losses recognised EERBEEE 673 762
Exchange realignment e H P (21) (24)
At 31 December »12 8318 2,184 1,532
21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL N.BAREFAESZEHMEE
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Wealth management products PO EE th - 152,697

The wealth management products at 31 December 2018
consist of structured deposits of HK$152,697,000 denominated
in RMB and were issued by banks in the PRC and fully
redeemed in the year. The structured deposits carried interest
at expected interest rate that ranged from 1.66% to 3.55% per
annum, which was linked to the performance of the underlying
investments and debt instruments. The structured deposits
were with maturity of less than 1 year. As at 31 December 2018,
the directors consider the fair value of the structured deposits
approximate their carrying values.
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P2018F 12 A31H B ERBEMN
ARBAEAHPBERRITEITNE
EMER152,697,0008 7T HERER
BEER - BEUGFRREFENT1.66%
Z£3.55% 2 TE BT & (BRI & RE
TEMRBBN)FTE - EEETRN—
FREE - R2018F12A831H &S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

22. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/DEPOSITS WITH
BANK/BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Pledged bank deposits

Pledged bank deposits are pledged to banks to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group. Deposits amounting to
HK$176,963,000 (2018: HK$129,785,000) as at 31 December
2019 had been pledged to secure bank borrowings and bills
payables due within one year and are therefore classified as
current assets.

The pledged deposits carried interest rates ranging from 0.3%
t0 2% (2018: 0.3% to 2%) per annum at 31 December 2019.

Bank balances and cash

The bank balances and cash comprised cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less. The bank balances at 31 December 2019
carried interest at the prevailing market rate ranging from 0.01%
t0 0.35% (2018: 0.01% to 0.35%) per annum.

The Group’s bank balances and cash denominated in RMB
amounted to HK$88,959,000 (2018: HK$21,336,000) at 31
December 2019. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.
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22, BIRIFRITER RITER

RITEBRRRE

EiRFRITEM

EEBETEACEF FRITIEAR T
AEBERITHENEIT - R2019F 12
A31H 2 &7 7176,963,000/5 7T
(20184 : 129,785,000/ 7T) * fE A —
FREENRITHE R R ENZHREE -
it o EAREDEE -

MN2019F 12 A31H » DKM EFEZIRN
F0.3%E2% (20184 : 0.3% £ 2% ) K
FFEFTE -

RITERRAR

RITEBRIEESEREAEEFRANE S
FREHABA=BEANAANNEHERT
T - R2019F12 A31 HRRIT4E %
EBEROMBFMEFTE - T F001%=E
0.35% (20184F : 0.01% £ 0.35%) °

R2019F 12 A31H  AEBUARE
FHE /IR 1T 45 8% IR € /588,959,000
7T (20184F : 21,336,000/8 7T) ° A R
HIR R ONES 78 8 ST R B AN E B R AR K
HIE - EERMNESEEBT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M5 RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

23. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES
AND ACCRUALS

23. BMERM - ENRRREMtE
FTREURFEREH

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT FAT
Trade payables (Note a) JE T BR 3k (i 3k @) 241,923 184,162
Bills payables (Note a) FE =45 (FisEa) 296,147 252,698
538,070 436,860
Construction cost payables JE A-F SR HE K AR - 495
Other payables H e AR 29,122 2,404
Accrued expenses TERFA X 21,159 16,969
Value added tax payables FET B E R 5,531 24,679
55,812 44,547
593,882 481,407
Note: M
a)  The aging analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice a) E(‘fﬁ%ﬁﬁik CREZABENMEMER
dates at the end of the reporting period is as follows: FRERDATINT -
2019 2018
20195 2018 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FHET
0 to 90 days 0E 90K 190,615 147,907
91 to 180 days 91 =180k 44,689 27,818
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365K 1,074 2,946
Over 365 days 365 KA E 5,545 5,491
241,923 184,162

The average credit period on purchase of goods is from 30 days to 90
days. The Group has financial risk management policies or plans for its
payables with respect to the credit timeframe.

The bills payables are aged within 365 days.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24.

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$'000

Ti&xT FAET

Advances received to deliver goods BRANE mBER R 8,518 80,969
Receipts in advance are mainly from sourcing business. In TEWFBEFTERGRBES - —MRME
general, the Group receives certain percentage of the contract AEBREZHESNFRAT P IR —

sum as advance payment from the customers upon signing of EBNLLHERNERRBEIERTENFKIE -

the sales contracts.

The significant changes in contract liabilities in 2019 was mainly 019 ENBEMNEREH HEZHRN
due to the decrease in purchases order from customers in late 2019F REF KB ERPFTE ©
2019.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December 2019 R2019F1A1EHMEGNAGEBERER
that was included in the contract liabilities as at 1 January Z2019F 12 A1 HILFE @R M U=
2019 was HK$78,089,000 (2018: HK$204,305,000). There 78,089,000 7T (2018 4F : 204,305,000
was no revenue recognised in the current year that related to BIL) BMERAFERREHE LT E
performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year. BN EEH R -
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25. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

25, SRIT R E M {E K

Secured:
Trust receipts loans (Note a)
Other bank loans (Note b)
Other loans (Note c)

Unsecured:
Other bank loans (Note b)

Bank and other borrowings repayable

(based on scheduled repayment dates

set out in loan agreements):

Within one year

More than one year but not exceeding two
years

More than two years but not exceeding five
years

Less: Carrying amount of bank and other

borrowings that are not repayable within

one year from the end of the reporting|
period but contain a repayment on
demand clause (shown under current
liabilities)

Less: Carrying amount of bank and other

borrowings that are repayable within one
year from the end of the reporting period

and contain a repayment on demand
clause

Amount shown under current liabilities

Amount shown under non-current liabilities

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FET
B
iR E R (Hita) 47,508 50,537
HiiRTER (MisEb) 126,655 169,249
HEMER(WMie) 23,584 _
197,747 219,786
il
HiRTE R (MisEb) 90,424 93,928
288,171 313,714
FEERBIRTT R E b g3k (R IR
HRER EOBETER
HER) -
R—FR 272,611 307,714
BB —FETHBBME
13,560 2,000
BBMEETBBRE
2,000 4,000
288,171 313,714
B FERAFBRERRE—FA
EBEEESKRERESR
IR IRTT R HE MR
REHE(REBEE
H 5T
(15,560) (6,000)
B RAERESERRE—FR
EERBSREREER
IERAIRTT R H M B R
BREE
(272,611) (307,714)
KRB & EE 5RO IE (288,171) (313,714)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

25. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes:

a) As at 31 December 2019, trust receipts loan with carrying amounts of
HK$47,508,000 (2018: HK$50,537,000) carried floating rate of interest
of 1-month HIBOR/LIBOR plus 2.5% (2018: 1-month HIBOR/LIBOR
plus 2.5%) per annum and was due within 3 months (2018: within 3
months).

25. SRIT R HAth B (4])

FAE

M2019F 12 A 31 H » BR H {8 47,508,000
7 7T (2018 4F : 50,537,000 7T) #I 15 7L Uk
BEFE-—MAABERTRERENE
WBERITRIZER EFEIN2.5% (20184 -
—EABBRITRERBFER MeHIRT
EIZEHFEFEMN2.5%)KIZEVFH K58 -
WHA=@EAREHE (20185 : Z@AR) °

b)  As at 31 December 2019, the other bank loans of HK$11,163,000 b) M2019F12A31H HMRITER
and HK$205,916,000 carried interest at fixed rates and floating rates 11,163,000 7% 7T & 205,916,000 78 7T 5 Bll A
respectively (2018: Nil and HK$263,177,000 respectively). The range of TE M FOF B R T B (20184 « 5
effective interest rates per annum on the Group’s other bank loans are B 263,177,000/ 7T) ° A5 B H iR
as follows: TERNERFRX@EENT :

2019 2018

20195 2018 F

Fixed rates bank loans TEFRIBITER 7.60% N/A i A

HIBOR/LIBOR HIBOR/LIBOR

plus plus

2.50% to 3.00% 2.50% to 3.00%

BRMRITRAERE FTHRITRALEFES

FlE RERIT FE @ BERTT

F#FEF =R RZEFEF =X

N2.50% £3.00% #12.50% & 3.00%

LPR plus LPR plus

0.64% to 1.89% 0.91% to 1.90%

BEEEERAEN SEREZRF=M

Floating rates bank loans FERERITER 0.64%%1.89% 0.9 1% £1.90%
c) As at 31 December 2019, the other loan of HK$23,584,000 carried ) 20194 12 A31 H » 23,584,000 7T /Y

interest at 4.98% (2018: Nil). In December 2019, Huizhou Wai Chi
Electronics Company Limited* (“Huizhou Wai Chi”), a subsidiary of the
Group, entered into a sales and leaseback agreement for financing with
an amount of HKD24,560,000. Pursuant to which, Huizhou Wai Chi
sold certain plant and machineries to a financial institution (the “lessor”),
which shall then be leased back for use by Huizhou Wai Chi, with the
lease period of 2 years from the date of inception. Upon expiry of the
lease term, Huizhou Wai Chi has the right to repurchase the leased
assets in accordance with the agreed terms and with a consideration
of a nominal amount of RMB1,000.

H B RIL4.98%5 B (20184 « &) - ¥
2019F 12 A AEBMBARIEMNELE
FERAR (BMEERD FIZHE REHE
Wik - BE © %8 524,560,000 7T © KL
BEMNELEHETHRERKEBLET B
A (THWAAL - &g E B E N
EEERA A aMB AR 2F - KA
HiEme  BMNESEERBEIETIAR
EREBARBA1000TEQAEEE -
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25.

26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

d) As at 31 December 2019, secured bank loans of HK$126,655,000
(2018: HK$169,249,000) were secured by:

i The pledge of certain property, plant and equipment of the Group
with carrying value of HK$108,916,000 (2018: HK$116,889,000)
as at 31 December 2019 as set out in Note 15;

ii. The pledge of certain right of use assets (2018: prepaid
land lease) with carrying value of HK$34,313,000 (2018:
HK$35,936,000) as set out in Notes 16 and 17;

iii. The pledge of bank deposits as set out in Note 22; and

iv.  The pledge of a property held by a related company of the
Group, in which Ms. Yiu Kwan Yu is the common director.

e) As at 31 December 2019, the Group has undrawn available trade
financing and bank loan facilities of HK$285,980,000 (2018:
HK$221,911,000).

OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its motor vehicles and
plant and machinery under finance leases. The average lease
term of these leases were three years throughout the year ended
31 December 2018.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at
1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. These liabilities have been aggregated with the
brought forward balances relating to leases previously classified
as finance leases and disclosed in Note 16. Comparative
information as at 31 December 2018 has not been restated and
relates solely to leases previously classified as finance leases.
Further details on the impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are
set out in Note 2.
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26.

RITREMERR ()

MsE : (48)

d  M2019F 12 A31H * 126,655,000/% 7T
(20184 : 169,249,000 JT) K E & 17 §§
TTERTIA TS A MR

BN 15 AT HE c R 2019 4F

12A81H  AEERBERE

/108,916,000 7T (20184 :

116,889,000/8 L) & T - ME
RS

i B E1eX17THE - EBE®E
& 534,313,000/ 7t (2018 & :
35,936,000 7T) K& TEREEE
(20184 : B LHFE) +

i, WA FE22PTEL - IR IRITF R
&

iv. ERBAKRE-HBRELR (AR
LI RELRER)FHEOME -

e) M2019F12A31H AEBHAEKRIERNE
S8 8 K R1T E 5K Fh & 285,980,000 7% 7T
(20184 : 221,911,000/ 7T) °

MmEHEEE
AEBRNEBRRARERENEREST
RE - S LR - REFZ=2018F 12 A
STHIEREAFE  ZEHENFHHEH
B=F o

REBERAKEBIIEWEENERE
BB REERFE 165 - WFHER 2019
F1A1ENENESR AT LRI RIERS
S EAEITROEAKETHENEH
HeErRleat ZE8ECHEH
RIS EARMEHENHENSE LR
4 AW EE 164 & - R 20184F 12 A
STEMERERTEES - BERLA
DEAMEMENTHERE - EEBE
ERBVBRELENEI6HHTZENE
— B BENMIE2 -

17



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

26. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES 26. BB HEFE (E)
(continued)
At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease payments MR2018F 12 A31H MEHEEBETH
under finance leases and their present values were as follows: ARxEEENRRBERERENT
Present value
Minimum of minimum
lease lease
payments payments
®EHE
RIERENR NRIRE
2018 2018
20184 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHE T
Amounts payable under finance leases: R 15 Bh & 7H B N A FRIE
Within one year —F R 1,017 916
More than one year but not exceeding BB —FETHEBART
two years 1,233 1,183
2,250 2,099
Less: Future finance charges W BERmEER (151) N/A
Present value of lease obligations MEFEBERE 2,099 2,099
Less: Amounts due within one year shown AR mEBAEEE TN
under current liabilities —F AR HRFIA 916)
Amounts due after one year —F B FIHRFIE 1,183
All obligations under finance leases of the Group bore fixed- REENMEREHEFREBEELS
interest rates. The effective interest rates of these obligations REH B - FR2018F 12 A31H » ZE @
under finance leases ranged from 4.73% to 4.76% per annum EHEBRENERFNENF473%E
as at 31 December 2018. The Group’s obligations under finance 476% AEBE R RMEREFEBU LA
leases were secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased AHHEEEMNHCEER ZFHE
assets. These leases had purchase options. EEE® -
As at 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s obligations MR2018F 12 A31H  AEFEETME
under finance leases were guaranteed by certain related HEREBEBRAERE THERAER -
companies of the Group, in which Mr. Yiu Chi To, the ultimate HPSERERFRARBIESHEER L
controlling party and the director of the Company, has beneficial EHEBE =R o
interests.
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27. DEFERRED TAXATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M5 RMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #H Z=2019F12A31HILFE

27. EIEFIE

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$’'000

T8 FH T

Deferred tax assets EIERIBE E 8,455 8,142
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE - (32)
8,455 8,110

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and movements thereof during the current and prior

AEERBEFEMERNETZRETEHR
HEEREBE) REZFHNT

years:
Difference
between
depreciation
allowance Impairment
and related and
depreciation allowances
TEREGR
HERE
HEEHE WAE R 1A A%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2018 720181 A1 H (14) 6,586 6,572
(Charged) credited to profit (REER)FFAER
or loss (Note 10) (FF3E10) (18) 1,928 1,910
Exchange realignment bE 3 B - (372) (372)
At 31 December 2018 and 201812 31 A &
1 January 2019 20191 H1H (32) 8,142 8,110
Credited to profit FrAEE (FisE10)
or loss (Note 10) 88 443 531
Exchange realignment PE 3 - (186) (186)
At 31 December 2019 2019412 A31 H 56 8,399 8,455
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

27. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, certain subsidiaries of the Group
had aggregate unused tax losses of HK$70,283,000 (2018:
HK$62,735,000) available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these
unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future income
stream of these subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2019, tax
losses of HK$17,808,000 (2018: HK$14,159,000) will be expired
within 5 years. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has deductible temporary
differences of HK$114,682,000 (2018: HK$116,040,000).
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to
HK$49,936,000 (2018: HK$49,271,000) of such temporary
differences. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
relation to the remaining HK$64,746,000 (2018: HK$66,769,000)
as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards (the “Post-2008 Earnings”).
As at 31 December 2019, deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary difference attributable to the “Post-2008 Earnings”
amounting to HK$501,465,000 (2018: HK$453,282,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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27. EEFEHLTE (48)

MR20195F 12 A31H  REBE THE
A B AT B R SR R B /Y ok B) R IE
&5 18 48 %8 /570,283,000 7T (2018 4F :
62,735,000/ 7C) - AR ATE R Z &
B ARMRRKRAR  MIEEREZE
APAREBBEREEREEE - 1
2019412 A31 8 - FiIEE18 17,808,000
77T (20184F : 14,159,000 7T) # 15
FREH - At ESEA ERPLEE -

R2019F 12 A31 8 » A& E a1
RS = 58 5 114,682,00078 7T (2018
F :116,040,00087C) *EHZEE
BS54 2 %8 b 49,936,000 78 7T (2018 £ -
49,271,000 70) BRELER B E E °
FR P JE ER A A 6 AT AR /R S T RS
BEMEZRRA TR T EREHT
64,746,000 7T, (2018 4F : 66,769,000 75
TO) ERIELETRIBEE -

BiE A B FTE 8L - B 20084 1
A1AR BB QR HATBEF
B ([2008F AR Wik BAHR
TEHIRL o /B P 7% & B A 458 ) 8¢ [0 BT 5 14
EEHRE MAEBAETREESEES
GRATTER M REE - 81K 2019
F12A31B WERGEVBERERA
B2008F M EF | EBHERMEERE
501,465,000 7t (2018 4F : 453,282,000
PETT) BIRIE R IR ME B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

28. CORPORATE BOND 28. AEIEH
In 2017, the Group issued a 7.5 year corporate bond with R2017F » REBERBILE= FETAR
principal amount of HK$2,000,000 to an independent third © $82,000,0008 TH75F RAEIESH -
party, net of direct expenses of HK$300,000, which will be due 0B & # B 5 300,000 7T #§ 722023
in September 2023. The corporate bond carried interest at a FOARH - AEEHIEETEF EEE%
fixed rate of 8% per annum with interest payable annually in AR (BEFHARIMAFNE) - AFRESH
arrears. The corporate bond is unsecured. The effective interest WEER - AREHFNERFNENR
rate of the corporate bond is approximately 11.05% per annum. 11.05% -
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1 A1 H 1,776
Effective interest expenses (Note 9) ERFEREZ () 200
Interest paid during the year FASTFE (160)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 R2018%F 12 A31 H X 2019F1 A1 H 1,816
Effective interest expenses (Note 9) ERA BT (HiE9) 200
Interest paid during the year FALTFE (160)
At 31 December 2019 2019412 A31 H 1,856
29. GOVERNMENT GRANTS 29. By ¥ 4 B
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January 2018 R20184F1 A1 H 31,756
Government grants utilised during the year (Note 7) FRBABUT B (HFE7) (12,816)
Exchange realignment ME W S (993)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 M201845 12 A31 A % 20191 H1H 17,947
Government grants utilised during the year (Note 7) FANEHBUATHED (FIFE7) (137)
Exchange realignment ME W S (390)
At 31 December 2019 2019412 A31 8 17,420
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

29. GOVERNMENT GRANTS (continued) 29. BURF# B (£8)
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Analysis for reporting purposes as: MBERBEINAE
Non-current liabilities EmEaE 17,420 17,947
As at 31 December 2019, the government grants of MR2019F 12 A31H - FBEEARHE TH
HK$17,420,000 (2018: HK$17,947,000) which were designated RIBE - LOEE - BRIWAIE - 4R
for certain research projects, export incentives, technical 8 B B R 589 BRURT 48 Bl 17,420,000 7
innovation, localisation incentives and fiscal refund were granted 70 (20184 : 17,947,000 jT) Jh B
by the PRC municipal government. The government grants of BMBRERT BAREARAEERLEE
HK$17,420,000 (2018: HK$17,947,000) is stated as non-current TEaRBRERREARKI2MEA RE
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position as MZEmBIME TEMSE  WERFE
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that certain 17,420,00078 7T (2018 4F : 17,947,000 7%
conditions in respect of these grants will not be fulfilled within T) R E B BANR RV IBR RIERBIALE -
the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. jg A
The share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and ARABIR20194F £ 2018F 12 H31 H Y
2018 is as follows: AT -
Number of shares Share capital
L KA
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
T TET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BRI BTHTER
Authorised ETE
At 1 January and 31 December W1A1BKk12A31H 1,000,000,000  1,000,000,000 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid BERTRER
At 1 January and 31 December R1A1BR12A31H 216,825,000 216,825,000 2,168 2,168
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31.

32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group entered
into a lease arrangement in respect of acquisition of a right-
of-use asset (2018: plant and machinery) with a total capital
value at the inception of the lease of HK$2,964,000 (2018:
HK$2,581,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group entered
into new arrangements in respect of office premises. Right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$12,758,000 were
recognised at the commencement of the leases of buildings.

LEASES COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

31.

32.

FEFBRERXS
REE2019F12A31BIEEE K
EERNEERBRBEELELAE
2,964,0007% 7T (20184 : 2,581,000
TT) BIE BB E (20184F : = KL ieR)
R —TEHEERHE -

REZE2019F12A31BIEFE A&
B AMET LT NEFHE
AR ERTAREERMEEARE
12,758,000/%8 7T °

HERE

AEBEFREBEA

MR20185 12 A31H » ANE BT 0] #
KEFERE TN H B RERE N FEE
BB R

2018
20184
HK$'000
T

Within one year
In the second to fifth year, inclusive

—FA
F_EFTF(BREREMF)

2,485
397

2,882

As at 31 December 2018, operating lease payments represent
rentals payable by the Group for certain of its factory premises
and offices. Leases are negotiated for terms ranging from one to
two years with fixed rentals.

The Group is the lessee in respect of certain of its factory
premises and offices which the leases were previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17. The Group has initially
applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach.
Under this approach, the Group adjusted the opening balances
at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to these
leases (see Note 2). From 1 January 2019 onwards, future lease
payments are recognised as lease liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with the policies
set out in Note 3, and the details regarding the Group’s future
lease payments are disclosed in Note 16.

2019 Annual Report | £ &

MN20185F 12 A31H » &L THE 5
AEEREETIHMYELBAEER
MNES HEEENHEBENT —Z2MFE
NEERE M-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements, the Group has entered
into the following significant transactions with related parties
during the year.

(a)

(b)

178

Compensation of key management
personnel

Other than the remuneration paid to the directors and
employees of the Group as set out in Note 12, who are
considered as the key management personnel of the
Group, the Group did not have any other significant
compensations to key management personnel.

The remuneration of the directors of the Company and key
management personnel of the Group is determined by the
board of directors of the Company having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.

Banking facilities and bank and other
borrowings

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, certain banking
facilities and other borrowings of the Group were
guaranteed by Mr. Yiu Chi To, the ultimate controlling
party and the director of the Company, and Ms. Luk Fong,
spouse of Mr. Yiu Chi To, to the following extent:

Ko 4

3. AEALXR B R

RAEPBRREMIADFINZS

oL AEBECRERNEREAL

RIMIATERRS -

(a)

(b)

FTEEHEASNHE

BRME 12BN T AEREES
LkEE (RERESAEEETEE
BAB)OMFMIN  AEEILERA
TREEABXNEMEMEAR

fg e

ARREFRAKEETEZEEAE
MFMEBE AR REZTSEE R EH
ATRBELTEBEETE -

RITMEURRITREAM
L

HR20194 K% 20184 12 A31H © |
BIRER T RARREEKEE %
& Rk B T A 2 BB by i
REOAEBE S TRITRE R EAE
A

BE Xt
hERE KL

Ms. Luk Fong
Mr. Yiu Chi To

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHET
267,923 45,652
492,449 114,129
760,372 159,781

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018 certain banking facilities
of the Group were secured by a charge over a property
owned by a related company. Details of the guarantees are
set out in Note 25.

R 20194 2018412 A31H » K
SEETRTMERBELER
Y EBEEER - BRFBIR
MEE25 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M HRIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

(c) Other related parties transactions

33. Ea *ix%&mn%(nﬁ)

(c) EBAZEALR S

2019 2018
20195 20184F
Name of company Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$’000
REERE XEHEE FiERT TET
Maxtone Electronics Limited Expense relating to short-term
(“Maxtone”) leases/rental expenses
BEFRETERAF(BEE] EHHERY MHeRxX 270 1,080

A director of the Company has beneficial interest in
Maxtone. The above transaction was at terms determined
and agreed by the Group and the relevant party.

In 2019, the Group entered into a two-year lease in
respect of office premises from Maxtone. The amount of
rent payable by the Group under the lease is HK$99,000
per month. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$2,256,000 were recognised at the commencement of
the lease. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount
of such lease liabilities is HK$1,430,000. During the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Group has made lease
payment of HK$1,157,000 to Maxtone.
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ARR—REEHAETANE R
e FR SR AEERARA
TET KT RIRTRETT ©

R20194F - AREREFTBOM A
METLHBIMENEE - A&EH
RIFHAERMME S AS A 99,000
BT N ER IR C R A
BERHAEEE2,256,00087T 1
2019F 12 A31H %EHEAE
HIBRE (B 51,430,000/ 7T - REE
2019F 12 A31AIEFE AEH
B8 EEHEENE,157,000
/;FSTE°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

34.

35.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant costs to the
scheme, which contribution is matched by employees. The
contributions from each of the employer and employees are
subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiary established in
the PRC are members of state-managed retirement benefit
schemes operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of its
payroll to the retirement benefits schemes to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under the
scheme.

The Group made contributions to the retirement benefits
schemes of HK$17,093,000 (2018: HK$11,742,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Since January 2020, the outbreak of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus
(“COVID-19”) in the PRC and the subsequent quarantine
measures imposed by the PRC government have had a negative
impact on the operations of the Group, as most of the Group’s
business are located in the PRC. The Group had had to delay
its operations due to the mandatory government quarantine
measures. To ensure prevention of COVID-19 infection, the
Group has implemented strict internal control measures to carry
epidemic prevention work into effect.

The Directors of the Company have closely monitored the
development of the outbreak of COVID-19 and kept regular
communication with its customers and suppliers to understand
whether there would be any significant impacts on the Group’s
operation.

Based on the currently available information, the Directors of the
Company consider that the COVID-19 outbreak will not have any
material impact on the financial position of the Group. However,
given the inherent unpredictable nature and rapid development
of COVID-19 into a pandemic across the globe, the Group’s
business might be materially affected and the Directors of
the Company will closely monitor the overall situation and
development of events in this regard.
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34.

35.

RIKEFIGHE
AEBERMETEREREEZNRTE
T8 FEMNEERNIEAZRNE
T EARENEESIRRTE A%
B BRAR AN R 5% At BIE AR - I
HESFLESHER - BEREEEA
MR ERR A8 A 1,600/8 7T

ARRAREFEKINMBARNEERS
F R B R 2 A ) B 5K B IR AR R AR A A
ElWKE - PEMBARAKFHENE
T B2 RRAKEN SR ASE
MREES - AEBEBERKBEN TS
M — B ERRIRAT B AR EAHE

REE2019F12A31BIEEFEE K
SEMERBMNGEESOEHRE
17,093,000 7T (2018 4F : 11,742,000 %
JL) °©

MEHEEMH

B20204 1 A8 - AR BE A 20194F
AT R ES (20198 HKFHES ) KT EH
BFEE R R B Y A B AL
BEETAERTYE FRAREBAKI
DEBA R R E o AR B8 BT B
B AEETENHERES - AR
REFIE2019BMAS  AEECEHER
B A SR BT FE LA B BOETTR & THE -

ARAREETEE2019T KRB ERIE
BER YWREFMHEEDRSESNE
BUTHRELSEHARENEZES
EXFE-

RIBFERAENER  ARAEERE
2019 B R MBER BT EHANEERN
AR EKR T EARTE - R ER
2019 MMM EN B F TR TRAMRES
HEEANREEREARNRITRE  WAE
EMEBAESSHEATE  ARA
AEEEBHEECREREEZHRESE

AEEL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #H Z=2019F12A31HILFE

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

Financing
cash

1/1/2019 flows
20198  FMBERE
118 g

HK$'000  HK$'000

36.MEFHELE 2B ZHIR

Finance
cost
incurred
BEL
B
HK$'000

TR AKERETHELEZAEE
B eRReLIREH -ARED
MEREMELD MELTDHELZE
BEEPHRELABESBREAREN
EXRNRASREBARKRASRE -

Non-cash changes

kL 3]

Government Foreign

New lease grants  exchange
recognised  recognised movements  31/12/2019
B B 2019%
#HE  BEWB  ES®  12B%B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Fign TR

Bank and other borowings 47 R E A8 3 (fit5525)

TR

FiEn Fign Fign Fiégn

(Note 25) 313,714 (49,682) 29,058 - - (4,919) 288,1T1
Corporate bond (Note 28) NAfES (fiE28) 1,816 (160) 200 - - - 1,856
Government grants (Note 29) BT 8 (5% 29) 17,947 - - - (137) (390) 17,420
Lease liabilties (Note 16) HER R (Fzt16) 2,584 (3,860) 423 15,722 - 13 14,882

336,061 (53,702) 29,681 15,722 (137) (5,296) 322,329
Non-cash changes
HREEY
Acqisition

Financing Finance  of property, ~ Govemment Foreign

cash cost plant and grants exchange
1/1/2018 flows incured  Equipment  recognised  movements  31/12/2018
NI8F  BERS BEE WED%. ERR 018%
1818 nE  BBRA BERRE  LAEH  HEEH 12838
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT AL AL AL TET TAL
Bank borrowings (Note 25) /753t (M3 25) 321,441 (24279) 27,949 - - (11,397) 313,714
Corporate bond (Nots 28) NAfES (i 28) 1,776 (160) 200 - - - 1816
Government grants (Note 29) BT 80 (5 29) 31,756 - - - (12,816) (993) 17,947

Obligations under finance BEAMERER

leases (Note 26) (Bt 26) 1,064 (1,612) 66 2,581 - - 2,099
356,037 (26,051) 28,215 2,581 (12,816) (12,390) 335,576
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
7 & M358 RO

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 37. AR BB R T
THE COMPANY

2019 2018
20194 20184
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ffy5E FET AT
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—RENBERAR 2 &RE 135,000 135,000
Current assets MENEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FENRIE - Ze &
receivables H b W s IE 1,590 1,592
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE U B BB 2 B 3R IE (@) 195,033 195,273
Bank balances and cash RITEBR RS 1,352 1,353
197,975 198,218
Current liability nEAaE
Other payables and accruals HEiENRIENRTEREA 852 143
Net current assets RENBEFE 197,123 198,075
Total assets less current liabilities & ER A& E 332,123 333,075
Non-current liability kREIEE
Corporate bond NAEH 1,856 1,816
Net assets BEESRE 330,267 331,259
Capital and reserves BARR#E
Share capital % A< 2,168 2,168
Reserves s (b) 328,099 329,091
Total equity ERES 330,267 331,259
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M HRIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes:

(@  The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, carry prevailing
market interest rate and are repayable on demand.

37. A E] B AR R (48)

FAE

(@) MEMPHE R EREIDEER  RETHS
MR B AR AL B RIEE -

()  Movements in reserves (b) FHEEZ
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
BaEE AitEE &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
As at 1 January 2018 n2018F1A1H 331,977 (2,566) 329,411
Loss and total comprehensive expense  FFE E18 & 2 M S A%
for the year - (820) (820)
As at 31 December 2018 and MR2018F 12 A31 B &
1 January 2019 201941818 331,977 (2,886) 329,001
Loss and total comprehensive expense 18 & & H R L £ %8
for the year - (992) (992)
As at 31 December 2019 M2019F 12 A31H 331,977 (3,878) 328,099
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

38. SUBSIDIARIES 38. Kt E A F]
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: KATRIMBARIMEFEAT :
Place of Issued and fully Percentage of equity
incorporation/  Place of paid share capital/  Kind of interest/voting power
Name of subsidiaries establishment  operation registered capital  legal entity attributable to the Company Principal activities
iRL/ EETRMR
KEARER R EEMA ka/ihEs  EARRER ARIEERE RREAL IBEK
Direct Indirect
E# 3
2019 2018 2019 2018
N19F 2018 2019 20185
Windrider Technology Company ~ The BVI Hong Kong Ordinary shares ~ Company with limted ~ 100%  100% - - Investment holding
Limited RBRAEE AR US§100 bty REZK
EERI0XT  ARAT
Techwide Management Company  The BVI Hong Kong Ordinary shares  Company with limited - - 100%  100% Investment holding
Limited iBRuEE AR US$100 bty REZK
EERI0XT  ARAT
Wai Chi Electronic Technology ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares  Company with limited - - 100%  100% Investment holding
Management Company Limited &% 3 HK$100000  liabilty RERHR
ETETHEERARAA k1000008 ARLA
Ecosquare Energy Company The BVI Hong Kong Ordinary shares  Company with limited - - 100%  100% Investment holding
Limited iBRAEE AR USS100  liabiity REER
ERRI0XT  ARAF
Wai Chi Energy Services Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares  Company with limited - - 100%  100% Investment holding
Company Limited Bk (3 HK$100,000  liabilty REER
EEHRREERAR E@RI0000%T  ARAF
Alled Solution Company Limited ~ The BVI Hong Kong Ordinary shares  Company with limited - - 100%  100% Investment holding
ABRAHE  BR US$100  liabilty REER
LARI00ET  ARAF
Wai Chi Group (HK) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares ~ Company with imited - - 100%  100%  Investment holding
BEEERRARA & £ HK$135,100,000  liabilty REER
LEk ARRE
135,100,000 70
Wai Chi Opto Technology Limited  Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares  Company with imited - - 100%  100%  Trading of LED
BEXERRAA B 4 HK$62,380,000  liabity backight and
tak  ERLA lighting prodiucts
62,380,000 7T EELEDERR
RAEn
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38. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 EH ZE2019512 A31 H I[FFE

38. [ff & 2 B (4&)

Place of Issued and fully Percentage of equity
incorporation/  Place of paid share capital/  Kind of interest/voting power
Name of subsidiaries establishment  operation registered capital  legal entity attributable to the Company Principal activities
iR/ EETRMR
KEARER RUBE EENE RA/HMER  EARRER ARIEERE RREAL IERH
Direct Indirect
B [}
2019 2018 2019 2018
N19F  18F 20195 2018
Wai Chi Opto Technology The PRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company with imited - - 100%  100%  Manufacture and sale
(Shenzhen) Limited” (Note g}~ # RMB97,128,000 libiltty of LED backiight
EEtE (RN ERAA AR BRAA and lighting
(Kzta) ARH97,1280007T products and
sourcing business
BEREELEDE Y
REBBER kT
BX%
Sanxia Wai Chi Opto Technology ~ The PRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company with imited - - 100%  100%  Manufacture and sale
(Yichang) Limited" (Note b hE i RMB30,000,000 libiltty of LED lighting
“hRESEE(ER)BRAT HiEx  BRATF products and
(F3t0) AR30,0000007C provision of LED
light installation
service
BERHELEDRS
EnRRHLEDR
Rz &R
Shenzhen Wai Chi Lighting The PRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company with imited - - 100%  100%  Manufacture and sale
Company Limited® (Noteb) i RMB5,000,000 libiltty of LED lighting
MITEZRABRAR HfEE  BRLF products
(Fzto) ARH5,00000070 HEREELED
RAER
Beiing Senhuan Energy The PRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company with imited - - 100%  100% Inactive
Management Company HE mE RMB5,800,000  liabilty Bt
Limited" (Note b} AR BRAA
FRREBEHRARLA AR #58000007T
(Kzb)
Huizhou Wai Chi (Note b) The PRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company with imited - - 100%  100%  Manufacture and sale
EMEE (D) HE mE RMB144,113349  labilty of LED backlight
AR BRAA and lighting
AR 1441133497 products
BEREELEDE Y
LR#AER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MEGRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F12 A31 B IFFE

38. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 38. [t B 2 &) (4&)
Place of Issued and fully Percentage of equity
incorporation/  Place of paid share capital/  Kind of interest/voting power
Name of subsidiaries establishment  operation registered capital  legal entity attributable to the Company Principal activities
iR/ EETRMR
KEARER RUBE EENE RA/HMER  EARRER ARIEERE RREAL IERH
Direct Indirect
B [}

2019 2018 2019 2018
019 2018 2019 2018

Wai Chi Jingmi Harcware The PRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company with imited - - 100%  100% Inactive
(Huizhou) Company Limited* hE US$3,720000  liabiity Bt
(Note ) AR BRAA
EERTRSZB(EN) 372000057
BRLE (i)
ENEEXEREARAT  ThePRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company with Imited - - 100%  100%  Manufacture and sale
(Note b) (F5£b) 7 hE RMB4,838290  labilty of LED backlght
AR BRAA products
AR 48380007 RERHELED
BhER
MImABETHRERRT  ThePRC The PRC Registered capital ~ Company with Imited - - 100%  100%  Fund centre
(Note b) (F3£b) # mE RMB5,000000  liabilty E80
AR BRAA
AR 5,0000007
ERESRSARRA The PRC The PRC Regstered capital ~ Company with imited - - 100%  100%  Inactive
(Note b) (F3£b) # mE RMB6,000,000  liabilty Bt
AR BRAA
AR6,0000007
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the BEEM B A RN EFEERETEMNE
end of both years. BEH -
Notes: P& -
(a)  The entity is wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC. @ ZEBARTBKIMNIIGEEDE-
(o)  These entities are limited liability companies established in the PRC. ) ZEEBARTBIKIZIMNERAT -
* The English name is for identification purpose only * BN A EEERR
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

MERMR

Percentage
interest of
Property the Group Floor Area Usage as at 31 December 2019
AEBEIEFHERS
L/ES 2B H#E R2019F12A31BZAHR
(sq.ft)
(FHR)
An Industrial complex located in Sanxu 100% 1,807,709  Occupied by the Group for industrial
Village and Meihua Village, Luoyang use
Town, Boluo County, Huizhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
— (AR EREEMNTIEEZRERSER AEBIEREIERR
RN RGEN 2 TEE
A Land Parcel located in Yanjiahe Village, 100% 595,595  Planning for construction of office

Xiaoita, Yiling District, Yichang, Hubei
Province, the PRC

— MR AP BMAItE EEMREE/NVEE
BRSO 2 3R

and warehouse for leasing purpose

AEEERAERREFLERE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M=

2018 2017 2016 2015
20184 2017 5 20164 20154
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FHET THT TAL
Revenue EE 2,214,974 2,249,786 1,677,966 1,321,601 1,100,491
Cost of sales HEMK (1,986,007) (2,002,523) (1,459,129) (1,160,336) (854,979)
Gross profit EF 228,967 247,263 218,837 161,265 245512
Operating expenses BERR (188,798) (197,738) (190,505) (154,483) (283,173)
Profit/(loss) before tax MBAIFIE (BE) 40,169 49,525 28,332 6,782 (37,661)
Income tax expenses FERAS (3,021) (4,418 (6,002) (383) (1,108)
Profit/(loss) for the year FENRE/ (B8) 37,148 45107 22,330 6,399 (38,767)
Earnings/(loss) per share BREFN/(HR)
Basic and diluted (HK$) HEAREE(BT) 0.17 0.21 0.10 0.03 (0.19)
Assets and liabilities BERAE
Non-current assets ERBEE 310,333 368,103 289,489 273,125 330,995
Current assets MEEE 1,299,379 1,199,444 1,494,996 1,176,360 1,317,509
Current liabilities MEEE (904,404) (887,048) (1,116,804) (832,010) (1,032,180)
Total assets less current HEERRBAE
liabilities 705,308 680,499 667,681 617,475 616,324
Non-current liabilities FEnBEE (29,619) (20,978) (21,673) (35,499) (39,886)
Net assets BERE 675,689 659,521 646,008 581,976 576,438
Capital and reserves BARMGE
Share capital AR 2,168 2,168 2,168 2,168 2,000
Reserves [ 673,521 657,353 643,840 579,808 574,438
Total equity ‘iR 675,689 659,521 646,008 581,976 576,438
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